Singular solutions of elliptic equations on a perturbed cone

A. Aghajani and C. Cowan

September 18, 2018

Abstract

In this work we obtain positive singular solutions of

 $\left\{ \begin{array}{rcl} -\Delta u(y) &=& u(y)^p & \quad \text{in } y \in \Omega_t, \\ u &=& 0 & \quad \text{on } y \in \partial \Omega_t, \end{array} \right.$

where Ω_t is a sufficiently small $C^{2,\alpha}$ perturbation of the cone $\Omega := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : x = r\theta, r > 0, \theta \in S\}$ where $S \subset S^{N-1}$ has a smooth nonempty boundary and where p > 1 satisfies suitable conditions. By singular solution we mean the solution is singular at the 'vertex of the perturbed cone'. We also consider some other perturbations of the equation on the unperturbed cone Ω and here we use a different class of function spaces.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
	1.0.1 Brief outline of paper	5
	1.1 General background	5
	1.2 Known results regarding (3) when S the geodesic ball $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	7
2	The linear theory	8
3	Nondegeneracy of w_p	14
	3.1 Nondegeneracy of w_p on (p_1, p_2) when S is the geodesic ball $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	14
	3.2 Nondegeneracy of w on general domains S	19
4	The fixed point argument	20
5	More general equations	23
6	Alternate function spaces	24
	6.0.1 Equation (33) \ldots	26
	6.0.2 Equation (34)	29
	6.1 The linear theory	31

7 Appendix

1 Introduction

In this work we consider a Lane-Emden-Fowler equation on small perturbations of a cone in \mathbb{R}^N . To describe the cone we fix $S \subset S^{N-1}$ $(N \ge 3)$ with a smooth nonempty boundary and we now consider the cone given by $\Omega := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : r = |x| > 0, \theta = \frac{x}{|x|} \in S\}$. We are interested in obtaining positive singular solutions of

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_y u(y) = u(y)^p & \text{in } \Omega_t, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega_t, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where Ω_t is a sufficiently small perturbation of Ω and where p > 1.

The approach we take is to linearize around a positive separable solution v_0 to the unperturbed problem given by

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta v_0 = v_0^p & \text{in } \Omega, \\ v_0 = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega \setminus \{0\}. \end{cases}$$
(2)

By a well known computation it is known that if w is a positive classical solution of

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_{\theta}w = \nu \left(N - 2 + \nu\right)w + w^{p} & \text{in } S, \\ w = 0 & \text{on } \partial S, \end{cases}$$
(3)

where $\nu := \frac{-2}{p-1}$ and Δ_{θ} is the Laplace-Beltrami operator on S^{N-1} , then $v_0(x) = v_0(r, \theta) = r^{\nu}w(\theta)$ is positive singular solution of (2). When we need to indicate the dependence of w on p we will write $w = w_p$ and from here on we shall define

$$\lambda_p := \nu \left(N - 2 + \nu \right) = \frac{2}{p-1} \left(\frac{2}{p-1} - (N-2) \right).$$

We now discuss the restrictions on p so we can find a positive classical solution of (3). For the existence we use a variational approach; we minimize

$$E_p(w) := \frac{\int_S |\nabla_\theta w|^2 - \lambda_p w^2 d\theta}{\left(\int_S |w|^{p+1} d\theta\right)^{\frac{2}{p+1}}},$$

over $H_0^1(S) \setminus \{0\}$. We now introduce the following critical values of p;

$$p_0 := 1 + \frac{4}{N - 2 + \sqrt{(N - 2)^2 + 4\lambda_1(S)}}, \quad p_1 := \frac{N + 3}{N - 1}, \quad p_2 := \frac{N + 1}{N - 3}, \tag{4}$$

where we are using the obvious generalizations in the case of N = 3. Note p_2 is exactly the exponent coming from the critical Sobolev imbedding in dimension N - 1, when N > 3.

- For $p \in (p_0, p_2)$ one has $\lambda_p < \lambda_1(S)$ (here $\lambda_1(S)$ is the first eigenvalue of $-\Delta_{\theta}$ in $H_0^1(S)$) and $H_0^1(S) \subset L^{p+1}(S)$. For this range of p the above variational approach coupled with an elliptic regularity argument shows the existence of a positive classical solution w of (3).
- For $p \leq p_0$ one has $\lambda_p \geq \lambda_1(S)$ and hence there is no positive classical solution of (3).
- For $p \ge p_2$ note that (3) becomes a critical/supercritical problem in the sense of Sobolev imbedding and the existence of positive classical solutions of (3) becomes a very hard question which we won't discuss, other than to mention for certain symmetrical domains one can find a positive solution; for instance a geodesic annulus.

In our approach we will require that not only is w a positive classical solution of (3) but we will also need it to be a nondegenerate solution; by this we mean the associated linearized operator has a trivial kernel. In the case of S a geodesic ball of radius α , where $0 < \alpha \leq \frac{\pi}{2}$, then w is nondegenerate for $p \in (p_0, p_1)$ which follows from Theorem A [38], see section 1.2. For the range of $p \in (p_1, p_2)$ they also show the solutions are nondegenerate in the space of radial functions, but this is not sufficient for our purposes.

With this in mind we will apply some abstract analytic bifurcation theory developed in [12, 5, 4] to show the existence of at most a countable sequence of p's (they may be none or just a finite sequence) increasing to p_2 and for which w_p is a nondegenerate solution provided p is not an element of the sequence. In the case of general domains S we will apply the abstract bifurcation theory to show w_p is a nondegenerate except again for a countable increasing sequence; but now this sequence is contained in (p_0, p_2) with p_2 being the only possible limit point.

We now discuss the perturbations we will consider and also the change of variables to reduce the problem to one on the unperturbed cone; we mention the following change of variables is taken from [16] where they examine the extremal solution of the Gelfand problem on perturbations of the unit ball. Let $\psi : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ be $C^{2,\alpha}$ map such that there is some C > 0 such that

$$|\psi(x)| \le C|x|, \qquad |D\psi(x)| \le C, \qquad |D^2\psi(x)| \le \frac{C}{|x|}.$$
 (5)

For t > 0 small we now define the perturbed domain

$$\Omega_t := \{ y : y = x + t\psi(x), x \in \Omega \}.$$

Given $y \in \Omega_t$ define $\tilde{\psi}(t, y)$ via $x = y + t\tilde{\psi}(t, y)$. Then there is some $C_1 > 0$ such that for small enough t > 0 one has

$$|\tilde{\psi}(t,y)| \le C_1 |y|, \qquad |D_y \tilde{\psi}(t,y)| \le C_1, \qquad |D_y^2 \tilde{\psi}(t,y)| \le \frac{C_1}{|y|}.$$
 (6)

Given u(y) defined on Ω_t we define v(x) on Ω via u(y) = v(x) where y and x are related as above. To find a positive solution of (1) it is sufficient to find a positive solution v(x) of

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta v - E_t(v) = v^p & \text{in } x \in \Omega, \\ v = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(7)

where E_t is the second order linear differential operator given by

$$E_t(v) := 2t \sum_{i,k} v_{x_i x_k} \partial_{y_i} \tilde{\psi}_k + t \sum_{i,k} v_{x_k} \partial_{y_i y_i} \tilde{\psi}_k + t^2 \sum_{i,j,k} v_{x_j x_k} \partial_{y_i} \tilde{\psi}_j \partial_{y_i} \tilde{\psi}_k,$$

where in all the sums the indices run from 1 to N.

We now state our main result.

- **Theorem 1.** 1. Suppose $N \ge 3$ and $S \subset S^{N-1}$ with smooth nonempty boundary. Then there is a sequence of increasing q_k (possibly empty or finite) with $p_0 < q_1 < q_2 <$... with $q_k < p_2$ (with p_2 being the only possible limit point) such that for all $p \in$ $(p_0, p_2) \setminus (\{q_k : k \ge 1\} \cup \{\frac{N+2}{N-2}\})$ and all mappings ψ which satisfy (5) there exists a positive singular solution of (1) for sufficiently small t > 0.
 - 2. Suppose $N \ge 3$ and $S \subset S^{N-1}$ is a geodesic ball. Then there is a sequence of increasing q_k (possibly empty or finite) with $p_1 \le q_1 < q_2 < \dots$ with $q_k < p_2$ (with p_2 being the only possible limit point) such that for all $p \in (p_0, p_2) \setminus \left(\{q_k : k \ge 1\} \cup \{\frac{N+2}{N-2}\}\right)$ and all mappings ψ which satisfy (5) there exists a positive singular solution of (1) for sufficiently small t > 0.

Our approach to finding a positive solution of (7), for small t, will be to linearize around v_0 where v_0 is an explicit singular separable solution as defined above; for the time being we are assuming the existence of a classical positive solution $w = w_p$ of (3). Of course a crucial ingredient in this approach will be the mapping properties of the linearized operator associated with v_0 ; ie.

$$L(\phi)(x) := -\Delta\phi(x) - pv_0^{p-1}(x)\phi(x) = -\Delta\phi(x) - \frac{pw_p(\theta)^{p-1}}{r^2}\phi(x).$$
(8)

We now look for solutions of (7) of the form $v(x) = v_0(x) + \phi(x)$ where ϕ is to be determined. Then we need ϕ to satisfy

$$\begin{cases} L(\phi) = (v_0 + \phi)^p - v_0^p - p v_0^{p-1} \phi + E_t(v_0) + E_t(\phi) & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \phi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(9)

To find a solution of this we will apply Banach's fixed point theorem on a suitable space to the nonlinear operator given by $J_t(\phi) = \psi$ where ψ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} L(\psi) = (v_0 + \phi)^p - v_0^p - p v_0^{p-1} \phi + E_t(v_0) + E_t(\phi) & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \psi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(10)

Note a priori that the term $(v_0 + \phi)^p$ is not well defined if $v_0 + \phi$ is negative somewhere in Ω ; this won't be an issue since we will restrict ϕ to be small enough such that we always have this term is positive. For this approach to work one will need to understand the the mapping properties of L and in particular we will want L to be surjective. We now define the functions spaces we will work in, these spaces are a very slight adjustment of the spaces introduced in [32, 34].

Let $0 < \alpha < 1$ be fixed and we consider the following function spaces, where $A_s := \{x \in \Omega : s < |x| < 2s\},\$

$$\|f\|_{C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}} = \sup_{0 < s} s^{2-\nu} \left(\sup_{A_s} |f| + s^{\alpha} \sup_{x,y \in A_s} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x - y|^{\alpha}} \right),$$

$$\|\phi\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}} = \sup_{0 < s} s^{-\nu} \left\{ \sup_{A_s} |\phi| + s \sup_{A_s} |\nabla\phi| + s^2 \sup_{A_s} |D^2\phi| + s^{2+\alpha} \sup_{x,y \in A_s} \frac{|D^2\phi(x) - D^2\phi(y)|}{|x - y|^{\alpha}} \right\}.$$

Set $Y := C_{\nu-2}^{0,\alpha}$ and X to be the set of $\phi \in C_{\nu}^{2,\alpha}$ with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial \Omega \setminus \{0\}$; with given norms $\|\cdot\|_Y$ and $\|\cdot\|_X$.

1.0.1 Brief outline of paper

As mentioned above, a key point in showing the mapping L is onto Y, will be that w is a nondegenerate solution of (3). Assuming the nondegeneracy condition on w we analyse in detail the linearized operator L in Section 2. In Section 1.2 we state known results regarding w in the case of S a geodesic ball, and in Section 3 we consider the case of general S. We then perform the fixed point argument in Section 4. In Section 5 we consider some more general equations using the same method; and in particular the same function spaces. We then conclude the paper with Section 6 where we examine the equations in different function spaces. The purpose of this is to allow for larger perturbations of the unperturbed cone. Instead of working directly with perturbations of the domain we prefer to just consider lower order perturbations of the domain to illustrate the usefulness of the new spaces.

1.1 General background

A well studied problem is the existence versus non-existence of positive solutions of the Lane-Emden equation given by

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = u^p & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(11)

where Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N with $N \geq 3$. Define the critical exponent $p_s = \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ and note that it is related to the critical Sobolev imbedding exponent $2^* := \frac{2N}{N-2} = p_s + 1$. For $1 is compactly imbedded in <math>L^{p+1}(\Omega)$ and hence standard methods show the existence of a positive minimizer of

$$\min_{u\in H^1_0(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}}\frac{\int_{\Omega}|\nabla u|^2dx}{\left(\int_{\Omega}|u|^{p+1}dx\right)^{\frac{2}{p+1}}}.$$

This positive minimizer is a positive solution of (11) see for instance the book [39]. For $p \ge p_s H_0^1(\Omega)$ is no longer compactly imbedded in $L^{p+1}(\Omega)$ and so to find positive solutions of (11) one needs to take other approach. For $p \ge p_s$ the well known Pohozaev identity [36] shows there are no positive solutions of (11) provided Ω is star shaped. For general domains in the critical/supercritical case, $p \ge p_s$, the existence versus nonexistence of positive solutions of (11) is a very delicate question; see [9, 35, 20, 18, 19] and for related problems [17, 28, 8, 27, 41].

There has been much work done on the existence and nonexistence of positive classical solutions of

$$-\Delta w = w^p \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N. \tag{12}$$

As in the bounded domain case the critical exponent p_s plays a crucial role. For 1 < $p < p_s$ there are no positive classical solutions of (12) and for $p \ge p_s$ there exist positive classical solutions, see [6, 7, 25, 24]. The moving plane method shows that all positive classical solutions, satisfying certain assumptions, are radial about a point. Regarding the existence versus nonexistence of stable solutions of (12) one should consult [40, 29, 23]. For the existence of solutions for (12) in either exterior domains; or perturbations of (12) see [13, 14, 15]. The Dirichlet problem (11) in the context of very weak solutions (and which allows for singularities on the boundary) have been studied in [21, 26, 30, 33]. We now briefly mention here some works relevant to our study. In [21], del Pino-Musso-Pacard constructed positive weak solutions of the problem (11) which vanish in suitable trace sense on $\partial\Omega$, but which are singular at prescribed single points if p is equal or slightly above $\frac{N+1}{N-1}$ (they also consider the case for a different range of p where the singular set is higher dimensional). Also, when $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^N_+$ they constructed a solution of problem with fast decay, behaves like as $|x|^{-(N-1)}$ as $|x| \to \infty$. In [30] Horák-McKennab-Reichel considered the equation (11) in Lipschitz wedge- like domains Ω , smooth domains except for one corner, where it locally coincides with a cone of cross-section $S \subset S^{N-1}$ (see [26, 30] for the precise definition). They proved the existence of an unbounded, positive, very weak solution which blows up at $0 \in \partial \Omega$, and when Ω is an infinite cone then the equation admits a positive solution behaves like $|x|^{\frac{-2}{p-1}}$ fro any $p \in (p_0, \infty)$ if N = 2, 3 and any $p \in (p_0, \frac{N+1}{N-3})$ if $N \ge 4$, $(p_0 \text{ defined in } (4))$ and note that p_0 depends on S. But this solution does not have fast decay at infinity. Note that the exponent p_0 is a truly critical exponent as it is shown in [33] that if 1 then everyvery weak solution of problem (11) is bounded. Very recently, Konstantinos T. Gkikas in [26] improved some of the above results and based on a fixed point argument which also allows the construction of blowing-up solutions, he showed the existence of positive weak solutions which vanish in a suitable trace sense on ∂S , but which are singular at prescribed "edge" of Ω if p is equal or slightly above the exponent p_0 . Moreover, in the case which Ω is unbounded, the solutions have fast decay at infinity like $|x|^{2-\gamma-N}$, where $\gamma := \frac{2-N}{2} + \sqrt{(\frac{N-2}{2})^2 + \lambda_1(S)}$. Note that $2 - \gamma - N = \frac{-2}{p_0 - 1} < \frac{-2}{p-1}$ for all $p > p_0$, for precise statements and further results see Theorems 1.1-1.3 in [26].

However, the existence of unbounded very weak solutions of (11) for all exponents above the critical point $\frac{N+1}{N-1}$ is still open both in case of smooth domains and domains with conical corners. In this paper, using the idea of perturbing an explicitly known singular solution and

then utilizing fixed point argument, we show the existence of positive singular solutions in domains which are small perturbations of the cone, for $p \in (p_0, \frac{N+1}{N-3})$ (see Theorems 1) except for at most countably many values of p. This countable set is coming from the fact we are applying some abstract analytic bifurcation theory and real analyticity methods developed in [12, 5] to obtain a nondegenerate solution of (3) (see Section 3) which in turn allows us to develop the needed linear theory (see Section 2) so as to apply a fixed point argument (see Section 4) to solve (9). It would be interesting to discover whether there really is a resonance phenomena or whether this countable set of p is only an artifact of our proof. Another interesting question would whether one can use a similar approach to investigate the case of a bounded domain with conic singularity.

Before giving more background on problems on the cone we mention that our current work is heavily motivated by [16, 32, 34, 13, 14, 15]. For explicit results on cone domains see [1, 2, 37, 3] and the references within.

1.2 Known results regarding (3) when S the geodesic ball

We will now give a result from [38] but they perform a change of variables so the resulting domain is Euclidean (which we also do); what follows is all taken from [38]. Suppose S is the geodesic ball of radius α , $0 < \alpha \leq \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $P : S^{N-1} \setminus (0, ..., 0, -1) \mapsto R^{N-1}$ is the stereographic projection and set

$$R = \tan \frac{\alpha}{2}$$
 and $B_R = \{x \in R^{N-1} : |x| < R\} = P(S).$

Then w is a positive classical solution of (3) if and only if the function v defined by

$$v(x) = \frac{w(P^{-1}x)}{(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{N-3}{2}}} \quad x \in \overline{B_R},$$
(13)

is a positive classical solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v + \frac{(N-1)(N-3)+4\lambda_p}{(1+|x|^2)^2}v + 4(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{p(N-3)-(N+1)}{2}}v^p = 0 & \text{in } B_R, \\ v = 0 & \text{on } \partial B_R. \end{cases}$$
(14)

They then prove the following theorem.

Theorem A. [38] If

$$1 + \frac{4}{N - 2 + \sqrt{(N - 2)^2 + 4\lambda_1(S)}} (15)$$

then problem (3) has a unique positive radial solution w. Moreover, let v be the positive radial solution to (14) defined by (13). Then v is nondegenerate in the radial function space $H^1_{0,rad}(B_R)$.

Moreover, if

$$1 + \frac{4}{N - 2 + \sqrt{(N - 2)^2 + 4\lambda_1(S)}} (16)$$

then v is nondegenerate in the full space $H_0^1(B_R)$.

First we note the exponents defined earlier p_0, p_1, p_2 are coming from this theorem. Note the nondegeneracy conditions carry over to (3). In particular we see w is a nondegenerate solution of (3) in $H_0^1(S)$ for $p \in (p_0, p_1)$; and nondegenerate in $H_{0,rad}^1(S)$ for $p \in [p_1, p_2)$.

2 The linear theory

In this section we consider the needed linear theory so as to apply a fixed point argument (see Section 4) to solve (9). In particular we will want the linearized operator L (around the solution v_0) to be onto Y with a continuous right inverse. Let $w = w_p$ denote a positive classical solution of (3) and consider the eigenpairs

$$-\Delta_{\theta}\psi_k(\theta) - \nu(N-2+\nu)\psi_k(\theta) - pw_p(\theta)^{p-1}\psi_k(\theta) = \mu_k\psi_k(\theta) \quad \text{in } S,$$
(17)

with $\psi_k = 0$ on ∂S and we assume these are $L^2(S)$ normalized.

Lemma 1. (Kernel of L) Let $p \in (p_0, p_2)$ with $p \neq \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ and suppose w > 0 a smooth solution of (3) and we suppose $\phi \in X$ is such that $L(\phi) = 0$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. If $\mu_k \neq 0$ for all $k \geq 1$ then $\phi = 0$.

Proof. Let $\phi \in X$ and we suppose $L(\phi) = 0$. Writing ϕ as $\phi(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$ and writing out $L(\phi) = 0$ gives

$$0 = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(-a_k''(r) - \frac{(N-1)a_k'(r)}{r} + \left(\nu(N-2+\nu) + \mu_k\right) \frac{a_k(r)}{r^2} \right) \psi_k(\theta),$$

and hence we must have

$$-a_k''(r) - \frac{(N-1)a_k'(r)}{r} + (\nu(N-2+\nu) + \mu_k)\frac{a_k(r)}{r^2} = 0 \quad 0 < r < \infty,$$

which are ode's of Euler type. Define

$$\gamma_k := -(\mu_k + \nu(N - 2 + \nu)),$$

and hence we can re-write the above ode's as

$$a_k''(r) + \frac{(N-1)}{r}a_k(r) + \gamma_k \frac{a_k(r)}{r^2} = 0 \quad 0 < r < \infty.$$

Looking for solutions of the form $a(r) = r^{\beta}$ we see β needs to satisfy

$$\beta^2 + (N-2)\beta + \gamma_k = 0,$$

and from this we need to consider three cases: Case I: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k > 0$

Case II: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k = 0$ Case III: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k < 0$.

Case I. In this case we have

$$\beta_k^+ := \frac{-(N-2)}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{(N-2+2\nu)^2 + 4\mu_k}}{2}$$
$$\beta_k^- := \frac{-(N-2)}{2} - \frac{\sqrt{(N-2+2\nu)^2 + 4\mu_k}}{2},$$

and hence $a_k(r) = C_k r^{\beta_k^+} + D_k r^{\beta_k^-}$ for some $C_k, D_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and note $\beta_k^- < \beta_k^+$. To show $C_k = D_k = 0$ it will be sufficient to show that both of β_k^+, β_k^- differ from ν . First note that if $\beta_k^+ = \nu$ then we have

$$N - 2 + 2\nu = \sqrt{(N - 2 + 2\nu)^2 + 4\mu_k}$$

and if $p < \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ then the left hand side is negative; a contradiction. So we now assume $p > \frac{N+2}{N-2}$. Then by squaring both sides we see that $\beta_k^+ = \nu$ exactly when $\mu_k = 0$.

We now examine when $\beta_k^- = \nu$. Note we have equality when

$$-(N-2) - 2\nu = \sqrt{(N-2+2\nu)^2 + 4\mu_k}$$

and note the left hand side is negative when $\frac{N+2}{N-2} < p$ and hence we can restrict $p < \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ and in this case we see we have equality exactly when $\mu_k = 0$.

Case II. $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k = 0$. In this case we

$$a_k(r) = C_k r^{\frac{-(N-2)}{2}} + D_k r^{\frac{-(N-2)}{2}} \ln(r),$$

and provided $p \neq \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ we can again show $C_k = D_k = 0$ by sending $r \to 0$ or ∞ . Note here we don't need assume $\mu_k \neq 0$.

Case III. $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k < 0$. In this case define

$$\omega_k := \frac{\sqrt{4\gamma_k - (N-2)^2}}{2}$$

and then the general solution given by

$$a_k(r) = C_k r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(r)) + D_k r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(r)),$$

for constants C_k, D_k . As in Case II we see we must have $C_k = D_k = 0$ after considering sending r to 0 and ∞ ; also note we are not assuming $\mu_k \neq 0$.

We now state our main result regarding the linear operator L.

Proposition 1. Suppose $N \ge 3$, $p \in (p_0, p_2)$ and $p \ne \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ and let w_p denote the positive classical radial solution promised by Theorem A. Suppose $\mu_k \ne 0$ for all $k \ge 1$. Then there is some C > 0 such that for all $f \in Y$ there is some $\phi \in X$ such that $L(\phi) = f$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ and $\|\phi\|_X \le C \|f\|_Y$.

Note that $\mu_k \neq 0$ for all $k \geq 1$ is just the statement that w_p is a nondegenerate solutions of (3). Hence this result is saying provided w_p is a nondegenerate solution then L has good mapping properties from X to Y.

Proof. We write f and ϕ as $f(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$ and $\phi(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$ and hence we need to find a_k such that

$$a_k''(r) + \frac{(N-1)a_k'(r)}{r} - (\nu(N-2+\nu) + \mu_k)\frac{a_k(r)}{r^2} = b_k(r), \qquad 0 < r < \infty.$$

As before we need to separate the three cases:

Case I: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k > 0$ Case II: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k = 0$ Case III: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k < 0$.

Case I. We now assume we are in Case I.

Homogenous solutions. $y_1(r) = r^{\beta_k^-}, y_2(r) = r^{\beta_k^+}$ and the Wronskian is then $W(r) = (\beta_k^+ - \beta_k^-)r^{1-N}$.

A particular solution. A particular solution is given by $a_k(r) = y_1(r)u(r) + y_2(r)v(r)$ where

$$u'(r) = \frac{-y_2 b}{W} = \frac{-b_k(r)r^{\beta_k^+ + N - 1}}{\beta_k^+ - \beta_k^-}, \qquad v'(r) = \frac{y_1 b}{W} = \frac{b_k(r)r^{\beta_k^- + N - 1}}{\beta_k^+ - \beta_k^-}.$$

Put $\gamma_k := -(\mu_k + \nu(N - 2 + \nu)).$

$$a_k(r) = r^{\beta_k^-} \int_{T_2}^r \frac{y_1(t)b_k(t)}{W(t)} dt - r^{\beta_k^+} \int_{T_1}^r \frac{y_2(t)b_k(t)}{W(t)} dt$$

where we are free to choose T_k and then

$$a_k(r) = \frac{r^{\beta_k^-}}{\beta_k^- - \beta_k^+} \int_{T_2}^r \frac{b_k(t)}{t^{\beta_k^- - 1}} dt - \frac{r^{\beta_k^+}}{\beta_k^- - \beta_k^+} \int_{T_1}^r \frac{b_k(t)}{t^{\beta_k^+ - 1}} dt.$$

We now get estimates on the solution. Depending on the sign of $\beta_k^+ - \nu$ and $\beta_k^- - \nu$ (note its nonzero by assumption) we pick $T_i = 0$ or $T_i = \infty$. For instance lets assume $\nu - \beta_k^+ < 0$ and we then pick $T_1 = \infty$. Lets assume $|b_k(t)|t^{2-\nu} \leq 1$ and then note we have

$$r^{\beta_k^+} \int_r^\infty \frac{|b_k(t)|}{t^{\beta_k^+ - 1}} dt \le r^{\beta_k^+} \int_r^\infty t^{\nu - \beta_k^+ - 1} dt \le C_k r^{\nu},$$

and similarly for the other term. This shows that $|a_k(r)|r^{-\nu} \leq C_k$ for r > 0. This gives us a bound on the first term in the X norm on the k^{th} mode of ϕ .

Case II. $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k = 0$ which we can re-write at $\mu_k(p) = \frac{-(N-2+2\nu)^2}{4}$. As above we assume $t^{2-\nu}|b_k(r)| \leq 1$ and we now write

$$a_k(r) = \ln(r)r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \int_{T_2}^r t^{\frac{N}{2}} b_k(t)dt - r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \int_{T_1}^r \ln(t)t^{\frac{N}{2}} b_k(t)dt.$$

First assume $1 and note that in this case we have <math>\frac{N}{2} + \nu - 1 < 0$. Take $T_1 = T_2 = \infty$, then using the above formula we can write

$$a_k(r) = r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \int_{\infty}^{r} t^{\frac{N}{2}} b_k(t) (\ln(r) - \ln(t)) dt$$

Hence,

$$|a_k(r)| \le r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \int_r^\infty t^{\frac{N}{2}} |b_k(t)| (\ln(t) - \ln(r)) dt.$$

Fix an $0 < \varepsilon < -(\frac{N}{2} + \nu - 1)$ then using the inequality

$$\ln(t) - \ln(r) = \ln \frac{t}{r} \le C_{\varepsilon} \left(\frac{t}{r}\right)^{\varepsilon} \quad t < r \quad with \quad C_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{\varepsilon e}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |a_k(r)| &\leq C_{\varepsilon} r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \int_r^{\infty} t^{\frac{N}{2}} |b_k(t)| \left(\frac{t}{r}\right)^{\varepsilon} dt \\ &= C_{\varepsilon} r^{\frac{2-N}{2}-\varepsilon} \int_r^{\infty} t^{\frac{N}{2}+\nu-2+\varepsilon} |t^{2-\nu} b_k(t)| dt, \\ &\leq C_k r^{\frac{2-N}{2}-\varepsilon} \int_r^{\infty} t^{\frac{N}{2}+\nu-2+\varepsilon} dt \leq C_k r^{\nu}. \end{aligned}$$

Note that in the above we used that $\frac{N}{2} + \nu - 2 + \varepsilon < -1$. Now consider the case $\frac{N+2}{N-2} . Then note that in this case we have <math>\frac{N}{2} + \nu - 1 > 0$. Take $T_1 = T_2 = 0$, then we have

$$|a_k(r)| \le r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \int_0^r t^{\frac{N}{2}} |b_k(t)| (\ln(r) - \ln(t)) dt.$$

Fix $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{N}{2} + \nu - 1$ and then similar as above we obtain

$$|a_k(r)| \le C_{\varepsilon} r^{1+\varepsilon-\frac{N}{2}} \int_0^r t^{\frac{N}{2}+\nu-2-\varepsilon} |t^{2-\nu}b_k(t)| dt$$

and since $\frac{N}{2} + \nu - 2 - \varepsilon > -1$ we get

 $|a_k(r)| \le C_k r^{\nu}.$

Case III. Lets assume we are in Case III. We use variation of parameters and hence we must first find the homogenous solutions; y_i . A computation shows $y_1(r) = r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(r))$ and $y_2(r) = r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(r))$ where $\omega_k := \frac{\sqrt{4\gamma_k - (N-2)^2}}{2}$, and the Wronskian $W(r) = -\omega_k r^{1-N}$. We then have a particular solution of the form $a_k(r) = y_1(r)u(r) + y_2(r)v(r)$ where

$$u'(r) = \frac{-b_k y_2}{W} = \frac{b_k(r) r^{\frac{N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(r))}{\omega_k}, \qquad v'(r) = \frac{b_k y_1}{W} = \frac{-b_k(r) r^{\frac{N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(r))}{\omega_k}.$$

Doing the computations we arrive at

$$\omega_k a_k(r) = r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(r)) \int_{T_1}^r b_k(t) t^{\frac{N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(t)) dt -r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(r)) \int_{T_2}^r b_k(t) t^{\frac{N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(t)) dt,$$

where we can pick T_1, T_2 . Take $T_1 = T_2 = \infty$ and so we have

$$\omega_k a_k(r) = r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(r)) \int_{\infty}^r b_k(t) t^{\frac{N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(t)) dt$$
$$-r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(r)) \int_{\infty}^r b_k(t) t^{\frac{N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(t)) dt,$$

and we suppose $|b_k(t)|t^{2-\alpha} \leq 1$; and note the integrals are well defined for any r > 0 since the bound on b_k shows the integrands are integrable on (r, ∞) . Using the bounds on b_k we also see that there is some $C_k > 0$ such that $r^{-\nu}|a_k(r)| \leq C_k$ for r > 0. In Case I, II and III we can use the ode for a_k directly along with the zero order bounds on a_k to see that $||a_k||_{C_{\nu}^{2,\alpha}} \leq C_k ||b_k||_{C_{u-2}^{0,\alpha}}$.

So far we have shown for each $k \ge 1$ and $f_k(x) = b_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$ with $f_k \in Y$ there is some $\phi_k \in X$, $\phi_k(x) = a_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$ which satisfies $L(\phi_k) = f_k$ in Ω with $\phi_k = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. Moreover there is some $C_k > 0$ (independent of f_k, a_k) such that $\|\phi_k\|_X \le C_k \|f_k\|_Y$.

One can ague that for each $m \ge 1$ there is some $D_m > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{m} \|b_k \psi_k\|_Y \le D_m \|\sum_{k=1}^{m} b_k \psi_k\|_Y$$

independent of b_k and hence using this we see for any

$$f_m(x) := \sum_{k=1}^m b_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$$

there is some $\phi_m(x) = \sum_{k=1}^m a_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$ such that $L(\phi_m) = f_m$ on Ω with $\phi_m = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ and $\|\phi_m\|_X \leq D_m \|f_m\|_Y$. We now show we can take D_m independent of m in $\|\phi_m\|_X \leq D_m \|f_m\|_Y$.

Suppose not, then there is some f_m (as above) and ϕ_m with $\|\phi_m\|_X = 1$ and $\|f_m\|_Y \to 0$. We begin by showing that the zero order term of the norm of ϕ_m must go to zero. Let $s_m > 0$ be arbitrary and set

$$\varepsilon_m := s_m^{-\nu} \sup_{A_{s_m}} |\phi_m|,$$

and define $\psi_m(x) := s_m^{-\nu} \phi_m(s_m x)$. Note that ψ_m satisfies

$$-\Delta\psi_m(x) - \frac{pw(\theta)^{p-1}\psi_m(x)}{|x|^2} = g_m(x) \qquad \text{in }\Omega$$
(18)

with $\psi_m = 0$ on Ω where $g_m(x) := s_m^{2-\nu} f_m(s_m x)$. A computation shows for each k we have

$$\frac{|g_m(x) - g_m(y)|}{|x - y|^{\alpha}} \le k^{2-\nu+\alpha} ||f_m||_Y \quad \forall x, y \in E_k := \{x \in \Omega : \frac{1}{k} < |x| < k\},\$$

and $\sup_{E_k} |g_m(x)| \leq k^{2-\nu} ||f_m||_Y$. This implies that $g_m \to 0$ in $C^{0,\alpha}(\overline{E_k})$ for each $k \geq 1$. Additionally using the bound $||\phi_m||_X \leq 1$ we have $|\psi_m(x)| \leq \frac{2^{-\nu}}{|x|^{-\nu}}$ on Ω . Also, it is not hard to obtain that $||\nabla \psi_m||_{L^{\infty}(E_k)} \leq k^{1-\nu}$ and $||D^2 \psi_m||_{L^{\infty}(E_k)} \leq k^{2-\nu}$, and also $k^{2-\nu+\alpha}$ as the uniform upper bound for the Hölder norm of $D^2 \psi_m$ on E_k . Using a diagonal argument we can then find some ψ such that $\psi_m \to \psi$ in $C^{2,\beta}(\overline{E_k})$ for $\beta < \alpha$ and all $k \geq 2$ and ψ satisfies

$$-\Delta\psi(x) - \frac{pw(\theta)^{p-1}\psi(x)}{|x|^2} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$

with $\psi = 0$ on $\partial \Omega \setminus \{0\}$. Note additionally that $|\psi(x)| \leq \frac{2^{-\nu}}{|x|^{-\nu}}$. Using this zero order bound along with a scaling argument one can show that $\psi \in X$ and hence by Lemma 1 we have $\psi = 0$ and so $\psi_m \to 0$ in $C^{2,\beta}(\overline{E_k})$ for each $k \geq 2$. But note we have

$$s_m^{-\nu} \sup_{A_{s_m}} |\phi_m(x)| \le \sup_{\frac{1}{2}|<|x|<2} s_m^{-\nu} |\phi_m(s_m x)| = \sup_{x \in E_2} |\psi_m(x)| \to 0,$$

and hence we have the zero order portion of the norm goes to zero.

We now show the other portions also go to zero. Let $s_m > 0$ be arbitrary and we re-write (18) as

$$-\Delta\psi_m(x) = g_m(x) + \frac{pw(\theta)^{p-1}\psi_m(x)}{|x|^2} \qquad \text{in } E_4,$$

with $\psi_m = 0$ on the lateral boundary of E_4 . Note that from the above estimates we have that the right hand side of this equation converges to zero in $C^{0,\alpha}(\overline{E_4})$ and hence by elliptic regularity theory we have $\psi_m \to 0$ in $C^{2,\alpha}(\overline{E_2})$. After scaling back and the fact that $s_m > 0$ is arbitrary we see that $\phi_m \to 0$ in X, which contradicts the bound $\|\phi_m\|_X = 1$.

3 Nondegeneracy of w_p

3.1 Nondegeneracy of w_p on (p_1, p_2) when S is the geodesic ball

In the case of S a geodesic ball, recall from Theorem A [38] (see Section 1.2) we have w_p is a positive nondegenerate solution of (3) for $p \in (p_0, p_1)$. In the current section we will apply bifurcation theory to partially extend this result to the full interval (p_0, p_2) . We follow the setting from [4], which follows closely the book of [5] and also the paper [12].

Let \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} denote Banach spaces, $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{X}$ an open set containing (0,0) in its closure and $F : \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{Y}$ an \mathbb{R} analytic function. We define

$$\mathcal{S} := \{ (\lambda, x) \in \mathcal{U} : F(\lambda, x) = 0 \}, \text{ and}$$
$$\mathcal{N} := \{ (\lambda, x) \in \mathcal{S} : Ker(\partial_x F(\lambda, x) = \{0\} \},$$

and we define a *distinguished arc* to be a maximal connected subset of \mathcal{N} . We now define some conditions:

(G1) Bounded closed subsets of \mathcal{S} are compact in $\mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{X}$.

(G2) $\partial_x F(\lambda, x)$ is a Fredholm operator of index zero for all $(\lambda, x) \in S$.

(G3) There exists an analytic function $(\lambda, u) : (0, \varepsilon) \to S$ such that $\partial_x F(\lambda(s), u(s))$ is invertible for all $s \in (0, \varepsilon)$ and $\lim_{s \to 0^+} (\lambda(s), u(s)) = (0, 0)$.

Define $\mathcal{A}^+ := \{\lambda(s), u(s) : s \in (0, \varepsilon)\}.$

We now state Theorem 1.13 from [4].

Theorem 1.13. [4] Suppose (G1)-(G3) hold. Then, (λ, u) can be extended as a continuous map (still called) $(\lambda, u) : (0, \infty) \to S$ with the following properties:

- 1. Define $\mathcal{A} := \{(\lambda(s), u(s)) : s > 0\}$. Then $\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{A}$ is an at most countable union of distinct distinguished $\operatorname{arcs} \cup_{i=0}^{n} \mathcal{A}_{i}, n \leq \infty$.
- 2. $\mathcal{A}^+ \subset \mathcal{A}_0$.
- 3. $\{s > 0 : Ker(\partial_x F(\lambda(s), u(s)) \neq \{0\} \text{ is a discrete set.}\}$
- 4. At each of its points \mathcal{A} has a local analytic re-parameterization (see [4] for details).
- 5. One of the following occurs.
 - (a) $\|(\lambda(s), u(s))\|_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{X}} \to \infty \text{ as } s \to \infty.$
 - (b) the sequence $\{(\lambda(s), u(s))\}$ approaches the boundary of \mathcal{U} as $s \to \infty$.

(c) \mathcal{A} is the closed loop:

$$\mathcal{A} = \{ (\lambda(s), u(s)) : 0 \le s \le T, (\lambda(T), u(T)) = (0, 0) \text{ for some } T > 0 \}.$$

In this case, choosing the smallest such T > 0 we have $(\lambda(s+T), u(s+T)) = (\lambda(s), u(s))$ for all $s \ge 0$.

6. Suppose $\partial_x F(\lambda(s_1), u(s_1))$ is invertible for some $s_1 > 0$. If for some $s_2 \neq s_1$, we have $(\lambda(s_1), u(s_1)) = (\lambda(s_1), u(s_2))$ then 5 (c) occurs and $|s_2 - s_1|$ is an integer multiple of T. In particular the map $s \mapsto (\lambda(s), u(s))$ is injective on [0, T).

We will now apply this theorem to (3); which we re-write for the sake of the reader (and we change notation to u to agree with the above stated theorem)

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_{\theta} u = \lambda_p u + u^p & \text{in } S, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial S. \end{cases}$$

Let $\phi_1 > 0$ denote the first eigenfunction of $-\Delta_{\theta}$ in $H_0^1(S)$, which is L^{∞} normalized. We define

$$C_{\phi_1} := \left\{ u \in C_0(S) : \|u\|_{C_{\phi_1}} := \sup_{\Omega} \frac{|u|}{\phi_1} < \infty \right\},\$$

and we set

$$C_{\phi_1}^+ := \left\{ u \in C_{\phi_1} : \inf_{\Omega} \frac{u}{\phi_1} > 0 \right\},\$$

which is open in C_{ϕ_1} . We now set $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{Y} := C_{\phi_1}, \mathcal{U} := (p_0, p_2) \times C_{\phi_1}^+$ and define the mapping $F : \mathcal{U} \to Y$ by

$$F(p,u) := u + \lambda_p (\Delta_\theta)^{-1} u + (\Delta_\theta)^{-1} u^p.$$

(G1') Since we are working on the finite interval (p_0, p_2) we can adjust (G1) to read for all $\delta > 0$ (small) that $S_{\delta} := \{(p, u) \in \mathcal{U} : F(p, u) = 0, p \in [p_0 + \delta, p_2 - \delta]\}$ is compact in $(p_0, p_2) \times \mathcal{X}$.

Condition (G1') We begin by checking the condition (G1'). We suppose the result is false and so there is some (p_m, u_m) such that $p_m \to \hat{p} \in (p_0, p_2)$ and u_m does not converge in \mathcal{X} . First note that if $||u_m||_{L^{\infty}}$ is unbounded then a blow up argument allows one to obtain the needed contradiction; see Lemma 2. So from this we see that u_m is uniformly bounded in L^{∞} . If $||u_m||_{L^{\infty}} \to 0$ we can renormalize to find a positive solution v of $-\Delta_{\theta}v = \lambda_{\hat{p}}v$ in Swith v = 0 on ∂S ; which is a contradiction since $\lambda_{\hat{p}}$ is not equal the first eigenfunction of $-\Delta_{\theta}$ in $H_0^1(S)$. So we have shown there are positive constants C_i with $C_1 \leq ||u_m||_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_2$. By elliptic regularity we can pass to a subsequence and find some $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ and $u \in C^{2,\varepsilon_0}(S)$ such that $u_m \to u$ in $C^{2,\varepsilon_0}(S)$. Note that $u \in C_{\phi_1}$ after considering the fact that the gradient is bounded. This convergence is sufficient to show that $u_m \to u$ in C_{ϕ_1} ; a contradiction. So we have shown condition (G1') holds. Condition (G2) Condition (G2) holds from standard abstract elliptic theory.

Condition (G3) We first need to prove the existence of a local branch of solutions and to do this we apply the Crandall-Rabinowitz Theorem, see Theorem 1.7 in [10] and for the readers convenience we restate it here.

Theorem 1.7. [10] Let X, Y be Banach spaces, V a neighborhood of 0 in X and

$$F: (-1,1) \times V \to Y$$

have the properties (a) F(t,0) = 0 for |t| < 1, (b) the partial derivatives F_t , F_x and F_{tx} exists and are continuous, (c) $N(F_x(0,0))$ and $\frac{Y}{R(F_x(0,0))}$ are one-dimensional. (d) $F_{tx}(0,0)x_0 \notin R(F_x(0,0))$, where

$$N(F_x(0,0)) = span\{x_0\}$$

If Z is any complement of $N(F_x, (0,0))$ in X, then there is a neighborhood U of (0,0) in $\mathbb{R} \times X$, an interval (-a, a), and continuous functions $\varphi : (-a, a) \to \mathbb{R}$, $\psi : (-a, a) \to Z$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$, $\psi(0) = 0$ and

$$F^{-1}\{0\} \cap U = \{(\varphi(s), sx_0 + s\psi(s)) : |s| < a\} \cup \{(t, 0) : (t, 0) \in U\}.$$

If F_{xx} is also continuous, the functions φ and ψ are once continuously differentiable.

To apply the above theorem for our equation, let $X, Y = C_{\phi_1}$ and consider the operator $F: (1, p_2) \times X \to Y$ as

$$F(p,u) := u - \lambda_p (-\Delta_\theta)^{-1} u - (-\Delta_\theta)^{-1} |u|^p.$$

We have $F(p,0) = 0 \in Y$ for all $p \in (1, p_2)$. Also, at the point p_0 we have $\lambda_{p_0} = \lambda_1(S)$ and

$$L\xi := F_u(p_0, 0)\xi = \xi - \lambda_1(-\Delta_\theta)^{-1}\xi,$$

which is a Fredholm operator of index zero and ker(L) is one-dimensional, indeed we have $ker(L) = span\{\phi_1\}$ where, as before, $\phi_1 > 0$ is the first eigenfunction of $-\Delta_{\theta}$ in $H_0^1(S)$ (which is L^{∞} normalized). Additionally, we have that codim Rang(L) = 1 by the Fredholm alternative. Now we check the transversality condition:

$$\partial_{p,u}^2 F(p_0, 0)\phi_1 \notin range(L).$$
(19)

We have

$$\partial_{p,u}^{2} F(p_{0},0)\phi_{1} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\partial_{u} F(p_{0}+t,0)\phi_{1} - \partial_{u} F(p_{0},0)\phi_{1}}{t}$$

$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\lambda_{p_{0}} - \lambda_{p_{0}+t}}{t} (-\Delta_{\theta})^{-1}\phi_{1}$$

$$= -\left[\frac{\lambda_{1}}{p_{0}-1} + \frac{4}{(p_{0}-1)^{3}}\right] \frac{\phi_{1}}{\lambda_{1}} := \frac{\beta}{\lambda_{1}}\phi_{1},$$

so if (19) does not hold then there should be a $\xi \in X$ such that $\xi - \lambda_1 (-\Delta_\theta)^{-1} \xi = \frac{\beta}{\lambda_1} \phi_1$ or

$$-\Delta \xi = \lambda_1 \xi - \beta$$
, in $S \ \xi = 0$ on ∂S ,

which is impossible because $\beta \neq 0$. Thus by the above Theorem 1.7, there exists a continuous function

$$(p(s), u(s)) : (-a, a) \to (1, p_1) \times X$$

such that F(p(s), u(s)) = 0 for all $s \in (-a, a)$, $p(0) = p_0$, and $u(s) = s\phi_1 + s\psi(s)$, where ψ is continuous on (-a, a), $\psi(0) = 0$ and ψ is orthogonal to ϕ_1 . Now note by the continuity of ψ at s = 0 we have

$$\sup_{x \in S} \frac{|\psi(s)|}{\phi_1}(x) = \|\psi(s)\|_{C_{\phi_1}} = \|\psi(s) - \psi(0)\|_{C_{\phi_1}} < \frac{1}{2},$$

for s sufficiently small, gives that $u(s) \ge \frac{s}{2}\phi_1$, for s > 0 small. In particular, $u(s) \in C_{\phi_1}^+$ for s > 0 sufficiently small. Note also that for 0 < s small we must have $p(s) > p_0$; otherwise we would not have a positive solution.

We need to now show that this local solution is analytic in the parameter s. We now return to the prior setting of $F: \mathcal{U} \to C_{\phi_1}$ and we can apply a similar argument to [12] to see that the solution is analytic in the parameter s on an interval of the form $s \in (0, \varepsilon)$. To see the nondegeneracy condition we suppose that $(p(s_m), u(s_m)) = (p_m, u_m)$ is a degenerate solution with $s_m \to 0$ and we let ϕ_m denote L^{∞} normalized solutions of the linearized equation. Hence we have

$$-\Delta_{\theta}\phi_m = \lambda_{p_m}\phi_m + p_m u_m^{p_m - 1}\phi_m \quad \text{in } S, \qquad \phi_m = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial S,$$

and we have $||u_m||_{L^{\infty}} \to 0$. Since $p_m \to p_0$ we see $p_m - 1$ is bounded away from zero and hence we can pass to the limit in the equation to see that there is some ϕ_{∞} which is L^{∞} normalized such that $\phi_m \to \phi_{\infty}$ in $C^{2,\varepsilon_0}(S)$ (after passing to a subsequence) and which satisfies

$$-\Delta_{\theta}\phi_{\infty} = \lambda_1(S)\phi_{\infty} \quad \text{in } S, \qquad \phi_{\infty} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial S,$$

and hence we must have ϕ_{∞} to be either ϕ_1 or $-\phi_1$. We can assume without loss of generality that $\phi_{\infty} = \phi_1$ and hence we have $\phi_m \to \phi_1$ in $C^{2,\varepsilon_0}(S)$. Multiplying the equation for u_m by ϕ_m and integrating and then multiplying the equation for ϕ_m by u_m and integrating (and equating) we arrive at

$$\int_{S} u_m^{p_m} \phi_m d\theta = 0,$$

for all m; and hence ϕ_m must be sign changing. Using the convergence of ϕ_m we see $\phi_m > 0$ in S for large enough m and hence we have a contradiction. From this we see that by taking $\varepsilon > 0$ smaller if necessary we have that (u(s), p(s)) is a nondegenerate solution for all $s \in (0, \varepsilon)$. This proves that condition (G3) holds. For later reference we now define $\mathcal{A}^+ := \{(p(s), u(s)) : s \in (0, \varepsilon)\}.$ We now apply Theorem 1.13 [4] to obtain an extension of the map $s \mapsto (p(s), u(s))$ to all of $(0, \infty)$. In particular part 3 gives us that $\{s > 0 : Ker(\partial_u F(p(s), u(s))) \neq \{0\}\}$ is a discrete set. In particular if $\{p(s) : s > 0\} = (p_0, p_2)$ then we are done. To show this is the case we need to consider the 3 possible cases from alternative offered in part 5 of the theorem.

(a) We first suppose $||(p(s), u(s))||_{\mathbb{R}\times C_{\phi_1}} \to \infty$. By passing to a subsequence we can assume there is some $s_m \to \infty$ such that $p(s_m) \to \hat{p} \in [p_0, p_2]$. If $\hat{p} = p_2$ then we are done so we now assume $\hat{p} \in [p_0, p_2)$ and we let $t_m := ||u_m||_{L^{\infty}}$. If $t_m \to \infty$ we can apply a blow up argument to obtain a contradiction; see Lemma 2. We now suppose t_m is bounded above. Then by elliptic regularity we see that u_m is bounded in $C^{1,\delta}(\overline{S})$ for some $\delta > 0$ and this is sufficient to see that u_m is bounded in C_{ϕ_1} and hence we obtain the needed contradiction. So we have shown that either case (a) happens and $\{p(s) : s > 0\} = (p_0, p_2)$ (hence we are done) or case (a) cannot happen.

(b) We now consider the possibility of case (b) happening. Lets suppose after passing to a subsequence we have $p(s_m) \to p_2$; then as before we are done. So lets assume $p(s) \to p_0$. Then there is some s_0 (large) such that for all $s \ge s_0$ we have $p(s) \in (p_0, p(\varepsilon))$ and by uniqueness of solution for $p \in (p_0, p_1)$ Theorem A [38] we see there is some $\tau_s \in (0, \varepsilon)$ such that $(p(s), u(s)) = (p(\tau_s), u(\tau_s))$. Therefore, we obtain that the distinguished arc corresponding to all large s must coincide with \mathcal{A}_0 . This gives a contradiction, as distinguished arcs are distinct from Theorem 1.13 part 1.

So we can now suppose $\hat{p} \in (p_0, p_2)$ and we set $t_m := ||u_m||_{L^{\infty}}$. As before if $t_m \to \infty$ we can obtain a contradiction. If $t_m \to 0$ we can re-normalize u_m by $v_m(x) := \frac{u_m(x)}{t_m}$ and see that $v_m > 0$ converges to some v > 0 with $||v||_{L^{\infty}} = 1$ and $-\Delta_{\theta}v = \lambda_{\hat{p}}v$ in S with v = 0 on ∂S ; but this gives us a contradiction since $\lambda_{\hat{p}} \neq \lambda_1(S)$. So now we can assume t_m is bounded and bounded away from zero. From this and elliptic regularity we can find a some $0 < u \in C^{2,\varepsilon_0}(S)$ which satisfies

$$-\Delta_{\theta} u = \lambda_{\hat{p}} u + u^{\hat{p}} \quad \text{in } S, \qquad u = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial S,$$

and by Hopf's lemma we have $\inf_{\partial S} |\nabla u| > 0$. From this we can conclude that $u \in C_{\phi_1}^+$, and using the above stated convergence we see that $u_m \to u$ in C_{ϕ_1} ; and hence we cannot have u_m converge to the boundary of $C_{\phi_1}^+$. Hence we have shown if we are in case (b) we must have $p(s) \to p_2$ and we are done.

(c) We now suppose we are in the closed loop case. Then for arbitrary large s with $p(s) \in (p_0, p(\varepsilon))$ we have the existence of $\tau_s \in (0, \varepsilon)$ such that $(p(s), u(s)) = (p(\tau_s), u(\tau_s))$. This shows that for these large values of s we must have $s \in \mathcal{A}_0$; which again is a contradiction by the same argument as in part (c).

So from the above we have shown the following result.

Proposition 2. Suppose S and N are as in Theorem 1. Then there is a sequence of increasing q_k (possibly empty or finite) with $p_1 \leq q_1 < q_2 < \dots$ with $q_k < p_2$ (with p_2 being

the only possible limit point) such that for all $p \in (p_0, p_2) \setminus \{q_k : k \ge 1\}$ one has that w_p is a nondegenerate solution of (3).

3.2 Nondegeneracy of w on general domains S

In this section we extend the nondegeneracy result to general domains S, but of course now the set of $\{q_k : k \ge 1\}$ where w_p is degenerate is contained in (p_0, p_2) with p_2 being the only possible limit point. To obtain this result we will again apply Theorem 1.13 [4], but first we will require a couple of results. We begin by proving classical solutions of (3) are uniformly bounded; which is really just the standard subcritical result.

Lemma 2. (Subcritical solutions are uniformly bounded) Suppose $N \ge 3$ and $S \subset S^{N-1}$ with smooth nonempty boundary. Suppose $p_m \in [p_0, p_2)$ with $\sup_m p_m < p_2$. Then there is some C > 0 such that for $u_m > 0$ a classical solution of (3) we have $||u_m||_{L^{\infty}} \le C$ for all m.

Proof. Using the stereographic projection (see (13) we see that there is some domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ (bounded with smooth boundary) and positive solution $v_m(x)$ related to u_m via

$$v_m(x) = \frac{u_m(P^{-1}x)}{(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{N-3}{2}}}, \qquad x \in D.$$

and v_m satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v_m + \frac{(N-1)(N-3)+4\lambda_{p_m}}{(1+|x|^2)^2} v_m + 4(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{p(N-3)-(N+1)}{2}} v_m^{p_m} = 0 & \text{in } D, \\ v_m = 0 & \text{on } \partial D. \end{cases}$$
(20)

We can now use a standard blow up argument to obtain a contradiction and hence v_m must be uniformly bounded.

The following proposition 3 is heavily inspired by [11], where they prove some uniqueness and nondegeneracy results for $-\Delta u = u^p$ in a Euclidean domain with zero boundary condition; for p close to 1. This result is also contained in [12]. We mention that the result we need is much easier than the above mentioned problem since our exponent doesn't get close to 1.

Proposition 3. Let $S \subset S^{N-1}$ with smooth boundary with $N \ge 3$. Then there is some $\varepsilon > 0$ (small) such that for all $p \in (p_0, p_0 + \varepsilon)$ there is a unique positive solution of (3). Moreover the solution is nondegenerate.

Proof. To agree with the notation from Section 3.1 we will change the variable from w to u. We first prove uniqueness. Suppose $p_m \searrow p_0$ and u_m, v_m are two positive distinct solutions of (3). Set $\zeta_m := \frac{u_m - v_m}{t_m}$ where $t_m > 0$ chosen such that $\|\zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}} = 1$. We first show that u_m (and also v_m) must satisfy $\|u_m\|_{L^{\infty}} \to 0$. Set $T_m := \sup_S u_m$ and by Lemma 2 we know T_m is bounded. Suppose $T_m \to T \in (0, \infty)$; then we can pass to a limit in the equation to find a positive solution of (3) with $p = p_0$; but this is a contradiction if we recall that $\lambda_{p_0} = \lambda_1(S)$. Multiplying the equation for u_m by v_m and vice versa we obtain

$$0 = \int_S u_m v_m \left(u_m^{p_m} - v_m^{p_m} \right) d\theta,$$

and from this we see that ζ_m must change sign. A computation shows that

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_{\theta}\zeta_m = \lambda_{p_m}\zeta_m + C_m(\theta)\zeta_m & \text{in } S, \\ \zeta_m = 0 & \text{on } \partial S, \end{cases}$$
(21)

where $C_m(\theta) := \frac{u_m^{p_m} - v_m^{p_m}}{u_m - v_m}$. Since p_m bounded away from one and $||u_m||_{L^{\infty}}, ||v_m||_{L^{\infty}} \to 0$ we see that $\sup_S |C_m| \to 0$. By passing to a subsequence we can pass to the limit in (21) to see there is some $||\zeta||_{L^{\infty}} = 1$ such that $\zeta_m \to \zeta$ in $C^1(\overline{S})$ and ζ satisfies $-\Delta_{\theta}\zeta = \lambda_{p_0}\zeta$ in S with $\zeta = 0$ on ∂S . Recalling $\phi_1 > 0$ is L^{∞} normalized first eigenfunction we see that we must have $\zeta = +\phi_1$ or $\zeta = -\phi_1$. Without loss of generality we take $\zeta = \phi_1$; but this contradicts fact that ζ_m is sign changing and converges to ϕ_1 in C^1 . So we have shown there is a unique solution of (3) for $p > p_0$ but close. We now show the solution is nondegenerate.

So we let $u_m > 0$ denote a solution of above with $p_m \searrow p_0$ and we assume the solution is degenerate and we let ϕ_m denote an L^{∞} normalized solution of the linearized equation, i.e. $-\Delta_{\theta}\phi_m = \lambda_{p_m}\phi_m + p_m u_m^{p_m-1}\phi_m$ in S with $\phi_m = 0$ on ∂S . Multiplying this equation by u_m and integrating; and multiplying the equation for u_m by ϕ_m and integrating we arrive at

$$0 = \int_{S} u_m^{p_m} \phi_m d\theta,$$

and so we see that ϕ_m must be sign changing. Now again noting that since $p_m - 1$ is bounded away from zero we have $\sup_S u_m^{p_m-1} \to 0$. Arguing as above we can show that ϕ_m must converge in C^1 to either ϕ_1 or $-\phi_1$; but again we get a contradiction to ϕ_m being sign changing.

4 The fixed point argument

Recall we have defined $J_t(\phi) = \psi$ where ψ satisfies

$$L(\psi) = (v_0 + \phi)^p - v_0^p - pv_0^{p-1}\phi + E_t(v_0) + E_t(\phi)$$

=: $K(\phi) + E_t(v_0) + E_t(\phi)$ in Ω

with $\psi = 0$ on $\partial \Omega \setminus \{0\}$. To obtain a solution ϕ of (9) we will show that J_t is a contraction on B_{ε_0} where B_{ε_0} is the closed ball of radius ε_0 centered at the origin in X. First we show that for ε_0 sufficiently small

$$\|K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1)\|_{C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}} \le C(\varepsilon_0)\|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}}, \quad where \quad C(\varepsilon_0) \to 0 \quad as \quad \varepsilon_0 \to 0$$
(22)

for all $\phi_2, \phi_1 \in B_{\varepsilon_0}$. To this end, we first prove that for ε_0 sufficiently small and $\phi \in B_{\varepsilon_0}$ we have

$$|\phi(x)| \leq C\varepsilon_0 v_0(x), \text{ for } x \in \Omega.$$

To see the above note that $\|\phi\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}} < \varepsilon_0$ implies $|\phi(x)| < \varepsilon_0 |x|^{\nu}$, for $x \in \Omega \setminus \{0\}$. Now set $\phi(x) = \phi(r,\theta) = \varepsilon(r,\theta)r^{\nu}$ with $|\varepsilon(r,\theta)| < \varepsilon_0$, so to get $|\phi(x)| \le C\varepsilon_0 v_0(x)$ it suffices to show

$$|\varepsilon(r,\theta)| < C\varepsilon_0 w(\theta) \text{ for all } r \in (0,\infty).$$
 (23)

Using the inequality $\frac{|\nabla_{\theta}\phi|}{r} \leq |\nabla_x\phi|$ in the second term in the definition of $\|\phi\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}}$ we get

$$\sup_{s>0} s^{-\nu} \left(s \sup_{A_s} \left[r^{-\nu-1} |\nabla_{\theta} \varepsilon(r, \theta) \right] \right) \le \varepsilon_0.$$

and from this we roughly get

$$\sup_{s>0} \sup_{A_s} |\nabla_{\theta} \varepsilon(r, \theta)| \le C \varepsilon_0.$$

Then using $\varepsilon(r,\theta) = 0$ on ∂S and the mean value theorem, we get

$$|\varepsilon(r,\theta)| \leq C\varepsilon_0 dist(\theta,\partial S)$$
 for all $r \in (0,\infty)$.

Hence to prove (23) we need to show

$$C_0 dist(\theta, \partial S) \le w(\theta), \ \ \theta \in S.$$
 (24)

Recall that $w(\theta) > 0$ satisfies the equation $-\Delta_{\theta}w - \nu(N-2+\nu)w = w^p \ge 0$ in S, then by a refinement of Hopf's lemma (Lemma 1, chapter 9 of [22]) we get $\frac{\partial w}{\partial \nu} < 0$ on ∂S that by the compactness of ∂S this easily gives $w(\theta) > C_0 dist(\theta, \partial S)$ for $\theta \in S$. Hence we have (24) for ε_0 sufficiently small.

Now since $|\frac{\phi}{v_0}| \leq C\varepsilon_0 < 1$ for $\phi \in B_{\varepsilon_0}$ we can show that, using the Taylor expansion, we have for $x \in \Omega$, $\phi_2, \phi_1 \in B_{\varepsilon_0}$ and p > 1

$$|K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1)|(x) \le Cv_0^{p-2}(x)(|\phi_1(x)| + |\phi_2(x)|)(|\phi_2(x) - \phi_1(x)|).$$
(25)

To see (25), first note we have

$$K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1) = (v_0 + \phi_2)^p - (v_0 + \phi_1)^p - pv_0^{p-1}(\phi_2 - \phi_1)$$
$$= v_0^p \Big[(1+a)^p - (1+b)^p - p(a-b) \Big], \text{ where } a := \frac{\phi_2}{v_0} \text{ and } b := \frac{\phi_1}{v_0}$$

Note when |t| < 1 we have by Taylor expansion (or binomial expansion), for p > 1

$$(1+t)^p = 1 + pt + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \gamma_k t^k,$$

where γ_k are the binomial coefficients, and where this series converges absolutely provided |t| < 1. Hence,

$$K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1) = v_0^p \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \gamma_k (a^k - b^k).$$

Now note by the mean value theorem, for $k \ge 2$ we have

$$|a^{k} - b^{k}| = |(a^{2})^{\frac{k}{2}} - (b^{2})^{\frac{k}{2}}| \le \frac{k}{2}|a^{2} - b^{2}| z^{\frac{k}{2}-1}$$

for some z between a^2 and b^2 , and recall we have $|a|, |b| \leq C\varepsilon_0 < 1$, hence $z < \varepsilon_1 < 1$. Therefore, applying the above estimates we get (Note $\sum_{2}^{\infty} k\gamma_k z^{\frac{k}{2}-1}$ is bounded by a C independent of z for $0 < z < \varepsilon_1$)

$$|K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1)| \le v_0^p \sum_{2}^{\infty} \gamma_k \frac{k}{2} |a^2 - b^2| \ z^{\frac{k}{2}-1} \le C v_0^p |a^2 - b^2|$$
$$= C v_0^p |(\frac{\phi_2}{v_0})^2 - (\frac{\phi_1}{v_0})^2| \le C v_0^{p-2} (|\phi_2| + |\phi_1|) |\phi_2 - \phi_1|,$$

which proves (25). Now from (25) we have

$$|K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1)|(x) \le Cv_0^{p-1}(x)\left(\frac{|\phi_1(x)|}{v_0} + \frac{|\phi_2(x)|}{v_0}\right)\left(|\phi_2(x) - \phi_1(x)|\right) \le C\varepsilon_0 \frac{w^{p-1}(\theta)}{|x|^2}\left(|\phi_2(x) - \phi_1(x)|\right) \le \frac{C\varepsilon_0}{|x|^2}\left(|\phi_2(x) - \phi_1(x)|\right)$$

Thus for $x \in A_s$ we get

$$s^{2-\nu}|K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1)|(x) \le C\varepsilon_0 s^{-\nu}(|\phi_2(x) - \phi_1(x)|),$$

that gives

$$\sup_{s>0} s^{2-\nu} \sup_{A_s} |K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1)|(x) \le C\varepsilon_0 \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}}.$$
(26)

To estimate the Holder norm of $K(\phi_2) - K(\phi_1)$, first note that using the inequality

$$\sup_{s>0} s^{2-\nu+\alpha} \sup_{x,y\in A_s} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x-y|^{\alpha}} \le 4 \sup_{s>0} s^{3-\nu} \sup_{A_s} |\nabla f|,$$

it suffices to estimate $s^{3-\nu} |\nabla K(\phi_2) - \nabla K(\phi_1)|$ in A_s . We have

$$\nabla K(\phi) = p\Big((v_0 + \phi)^{p-1}\big) - v_0^{p-1} - (p-1)v_0^{p-2}\phi\Big)\nabla v_0 + p\Big((v_0 + \phi)^{p-1}\big) - v_0^{p-1}\Big)\nabla\phi.$$

Again using Taylor expansion in the expression above and similar as before one can show that

$$\sup_{s>0} s^{3-\nu} \sup_{A_s} |\nabla K(\phi_2) - \nabla K(\phi_1)| \le C(\varepsilon_0) \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}}, \quad where \quad C(\varepsilon_0) \to 0 \text{ as } \varepsilon_0 \to 0.$$
(27)

Now (26) and (27) imply (22).

Also by the definition of E_t and assumptions in (6) its easy to get

$$\|E_t(\phi_2 - \phi_1)\|_{C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}} \le Ct \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}} \quad and \quad \|E_t(v_0)\|_{C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}} \le Ct.$$
(28)

Now note that taking $\phi_1 = 0$ in (22) and (28) we get

$$\|K(\phi)\|_{C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}} \le C(\varepsilon_0) \|\phi\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}} \quad and \quad \|E_t(\phi)\|_{C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}} \le Ct \|\phi\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}}, \quad \phi \in B_{\varepsilon_0}.$$
 (29)

Now by the definition of J_t , the continuity of the right inverse of L and the above estimates (22),(28) and (29) we see that, for t, ε_0 sufficiently small, J_t maps B_{ε_0} to itself. Also by these estimates we get

$$\|J_t(\phi_2) - J_t(\phi_1)\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}} \le (Ct + C(\varepsilon_0)) \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu}} \text{ for all } \phi_2, \phi_1 \in B_{\varepsilon_0},$$

where $C(\varepsilon_0) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon_0 \to 0$. This shows that for sufficiently small t and ε_0 , $J_t : B_{\varepsilon_0} \to B_{\varepsilon_0}$ is a contraction and hence we can apply Banach's Contraction Mapping Principle to obtain a fixed point $\phi \in B_{\varepsilon_0}$. By taking $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ small enough we see that $v(x) = v_0(x) + \phi(x)$ is positive in Ω by considering (23) and satisfies (7).

5 More general equations

We now point out some more general equations that can be handled by the above method.

1. We first consider the Hénon like equation

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = |x|^{\alpha} u^{p} & \text{in } \Omega_{t}, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega_{t}. \end{cases}$$
(30)

Then $v_0(r,\theta) := r^{\frac{-2-\alpha}{p-1}} w(\theta)$ is a separable positive solution on the unperturbed equation provided w is a positive classical solution of

$$-\Delta_{\theta}w = \hat{\lambda}_p w + w^p \quad \text{in } S, \qquad w = 0 \quad \text{on } S,$$

where

$$\hat{\lambda}_p := \left(\frac{\alpha+2}{p-1}\right) \left(\frac{2+\alpha}{p-1} - (N-2)\right).$$

Note for general S we will require that p is subcritical; hence $p < \frac{N+1}{N-3}$ and we will need $\hat{\lambda}_p < \lambda_1(S)$, where $\lambda_1(S)$ is defined as before. Note this implies various restrictions on the allowed parameters; for instance for S and p fixed we have $\hat{\lambda}_p \to \infty$ as $\alpha \to \infty$; hence for large α we have $\hat{\lambda}_p > \lambda_1(S)$. Once we find a positive classical solution w we still need to show its nondegenerate; which would then show using the same method as above that the linearized operator $L(\phi) := -\Delta \phi - \frac{pw(\theta)^{p-1}\phi}{r^2}$ is surjective and we can proceed as before.

2. We can also examine equations of the form

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = u^p \pm |x|^\beta u^q & \text{in } \Omega_t, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega_t. \end{cases}$$
(31)

As before we look for separable solutions on the unperturbed cone. A computation shows that for $\beta := \frac{2}{p-1}(q-1) - 2$ we have $v_0(r,\theta) = r^{\frac{-2}{p-1}}w(\theta)$ is a separable solution provided w > 0 a classical solution of

$$-\Delta_{\theta}w = \lambda_p w + w^p \pm w^q \quad \text{in } S, \qquad w = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial S,$$

where

$$\lambda_p := \frac{2}{p-1} \left(\frac{2}{p-1} - (N-2) \right).$$

To follow our approach we will need to show the linearized operator is surjective onto to Y; which follow using the same argument as before (hence we need to prove the nondegeneracy of w).

3. Consider

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u + \frac{C(\theta)}{|x|^2}u &= u^p & \text{ in } \Omega_t, \\ u &= 0 & \text{ on } \partial\Omega_t. \end{cases}$$
(32)

A computation shows that $v_0(r,\theta) := r^{\frac{-2}{p-1}}w(\theta)$ is a positive singular solution of (32) on the unperturbed cone Ω provided w > 0 is a classical solution of

$$-\Delta_{\theta}w + C(\theta)w = \lambda_p w + w^p \quad \text{in } S, \qquad w = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial S.$$

As before to find positive singular solution of (32) for t > 0 small we will need w to be a nondegenerate solution.

6 Alternate function spaces

In this section we consider some alternate functions spaces to consider our problem in, the purpose being that this may allow one to use perturbations that are not admissible in the weighted Hölder spaces we used in the previous sections. Instead of considering perturbations of the cone we prefer here to consider lower order perturbations of the equation on the unperturbed cone Ω , where Ω is defined as in the introduction. This will be sufficient to illustrate that there are benefits for considering these new spaces. Recall in the previous sections $Y = C_{\nu-2}^{0,\alpha}$ and X was the $C_{\nu}^{2,\alpha}$ functions which were zero on $\partial\Omega$. We will now denote this second space as $C_{\nu,0}^{2,\alpha}$; any reference to spaces X and Y from here forwards refers to the spaces defined below. We now define the following new norms

$$\|f\|_{Y} := \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha+1-\frac{N}{2}} \|f\|_{H^{-1}(A_{s})},$$
$$\|\phi\|_{X_{1}} := \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha+1-\frac{N}{2}} \|\nabla\phi\|_{L^{2}(A_{s})}, \qquad \|\phi\|_{X_{0}} := \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha-\frac{N}{2}} \|\phi\|_{L^{2}(A_{s})}$$

which are the weighted H^{-1} and H_0^1 spaces we consider. We will also consider some weighted L^q spaces

$$\|f\|_{Y_q} := \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha+2-\frac{N}{q}} \|f\|_{L^q(A_s)},$$
$$\|\phi\|_{X_q^0} := \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha-\frac{N}{q}} \|\phi\|_{L^q(A_s)}, \qquad \|\phi\|_{X_q^1} := \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha+1-\frac{N}{q}} \|\nabla\phi\|_{L^q(A_s)},$$
$$\|\phi\|_{X_q^2} := \|\phi\|_{X_q^1} + \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha+2-\frac{N}{q}} \|D^2\phi\|_{L^q(A_s)}.$$

As before we define L via (8) where $w = w_p$ denotes a positive classical solution of (3).

We now consider two perturbations of (2) given by

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u + V(x)u = u^p & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega \setminus \{0\}, \end{cases}$$
(33)

and

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u &= |u|^p + f(x) \quad \text{in } \Omega, \\ u &= 0 \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega \setminus \{0\}. \end{cases}$$
(34)

Recall if $V(x) = \frac{C(\theta)}{|x|^2}$ we can handle (33) via the prior method, see Section 5. Here we would like to consider cases of V(x) which our prior methods would not be able to handle. As before we look for solutions of the form $u(x) = v_0(x) + \phi(x)$ of (33); but we replace u^p with $|u|^p$ for now, and recall v_0 is the explicit separable solution of (2). We then need ϕ to satisfy

$$\begin{cases} L(\phi) = H(\phi) - V(x)\phi - V(x)v_0 & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \phi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \setminus \{0\}, \end{cases}$$
(35)

where $H(\phi) := |v_0 + \phi|^p - v_0^p - pv_0^{p-1}\phi$. Using the same approach we see to find a solution of (34) we need ϕ to satisfy

$$\begin{cases} L(\phi) = H(\phi) + f(x) & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \phi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \setminus \{0\}. \end{cases}$$
(36)

Before we carry on we state our main linear result regarding these new spaces.

Proposition 4. Suppose $N \geq 3$.

- 1. Suppose $p \in (p_0, p_1)$, $\mu_k \neq 0$ for all $k \geq 1$. Then there is some C > 0 such that for all $f \in Y$ there is some $\phi \in X_1$ such that $L(\phi) = f$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. Moreover one has the estimate $\|\phi\|_{X_1} \leq C \|f\|_Y$.
- 2. Suppose $p \in (p_0, p_2)$, $1 < q < \infty$ and $\mu_k \neq 0$ for all $k \ge 1$. Then there is some C_q such that for all $f \in Y_q$ there is some $\phi \in X_q^2$ such that $L(\phi) = f$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. Moreover one has the estimate $\|\phi\|_{X_q^2} \le C_q \|f\|_{Y_q}$.

6.0.1 Equation (33)

Here we examine conditions on V(x) so we can obtain a positive solution of (33). Our main interest is to weaken the spaces to allow for V(x) for which the weighted Hölder spaces we used in the previous sections wouldn't work. So we want V(x) to not be smooth; but we will impose smallness conditions (to see examples of V(x) without smallness assumptions see Section 5). We consider $V(x) = V_{\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{h_{\varepsilon}(x)}{|x|^2}$ where $\varepsilon > 0$ is a small parameter. So we consider the nonlinear operator $J_{\varepsilon}(\phi) = \psi$ where

$$\begin{cases} L(\psi) = H(\phi) - \frac{h_{\varepsilon}\phi}{|x|^2} - \frac{h_{\varepsilon}v_0}{|x|^2} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \psi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \setminus \{0\}. \end{cases}$$
(37)

We begin with some estimates on $H(\phi)$ (see below (35) for the definition of H). For p > 1 there is some C (all constants just depend on p) such that for all $0 < v_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\phi_i, \phi \in \mathbb{R}$ one has

$$|H(\phi)| \le C(v_0^{p-1} + |\phi|^{p-1})|\phi|, \tag{38}$$

$$|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)| \le C \left(v_0^{p-1} + |\phi_2|^{p-1} + |\phi_1|^{p-1} \right) ||\phi_2 - \phi_1|, \tag{39}$$

$$|H(\phi)| \le C \Big(v_0^{p-2} \phi^2 + |\phi|^p \Big), \tag{40}$$

$$|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)| \le C \Big(v_0^{p-2} (|\phi_1| + |\phi_2|) + |\phi_1|^{p-1} + |\phi_2|^{p-1} \Big) |\phi_2 - \phi_1|.$$
(41)

If we restrict 1 then we have

$$|H(\phi)| \le C |\phi|^p \tag{42}$$

$$|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)| \le C \Big(|\phi_2|^{p-1} + |\phi_1|^{p-1} \Big) |\phi_2 - \phi_1|.$$
(43)

The estimates (40) and (41) are completely standard so we omit any discussion of them. For the remaining estimates see Section 7.

We now state our main theorem in this section.

Theorem 2. Suppose S, p, N are as in the hypothesis of Theorem 1 part 1 and for some $q \in (N, \infty)$ one has

$$\sup_{s>0} \frac{1}{s^N} \int_{A_s} |h_{\varepsilon}(x)|^q dx \to 0, \tag{44}$$

as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$. Then for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough there is a positive solution of (33) where $V(x) = \frac{h_{\varepsilon}(x)}{|x|^2}$.

Proof. Fix p, q, S, N as in the hypothesis. Define J_{ε} as above. We will show that J_{ε} is a contraction on B_R where B_R is the closed ball centered at the origin in X_q^2 . The exact approach will depend on whether $p \leq 2$ or p > 2. We first consider the case of $p \in (p_0, 2]$. Given $\phi \in B_R$ a scaling argument and Sobolev imbedding theorems show the existence of C > 0 such that

$$\sup_{s<|x|<2s} |\phi| \le \frac{C\|\phi\|_{X^2_q}}{s^{\alpha}} \tag{45}$$

for all s > 0.

Into. Let $\phi \in B_R$. Using (42) we see and (45) one immediately sees that

$$\|H(\phi)\|_{Y_q} \le \sup_{s>0} \frac{s^{\alpha+2-\frac{N}{q}}C \|\phi\|_{X_q^2}^p s^{\frac{N}{q}}}{s^{\alpha p}} \le CR^p,$$

after noting the exponent on s is zero. A similar computation shows

$$||h_{\varepsilon}v_0|x|^{-2}||_{Y_q}^q \le C \sup_{s>0} \frac{1}{s^N} \int_{A_s} |h_{\varepsilon}(x)|^q w(\theta)^q dx$$

which converges to zero as $\varepsilon \to 0$ by hypothesis. A similar computation and using (45) we see

$$\|h_{\varepsilon}\phi|x|^{-2}\|_{Y_q}^q \le CR^q \sup_{s>0} \frac{1}{s^N} \int_{A_s} |h_{\varepsilon}(x)|^q dx$$

We set $T_{\varepsilon} := (1 + \max_{S} w^{q}) \sup_{s>0} \frac{1}{s^{N}} \int_{A_{s}} |h_{\varepsilon}(x)|^{q} dx$. Then we have $J_{\varepsilon}(B_{R}) \subset B_{R}$ provided

$$CR^p + CT_{\varepsilon} + CR^q T_{\varepsilon} \le R.$$
(46)

Contraction. Let $\phi_i \in B_R$ and then using (43) and (45) we have

$$\|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)\|_{Y_q}^q \le C \sup_{s>0} s^{q(\alpha+2-\alpha p)} R^{q(p-1)} \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_q^2}^q$$

and now note the exponent on s is zero. Now let $J_{\varepsilon}(\phi_i) = \psi_i$. A similar computation shows

$$||h_{\varepsilon}|x|^{-2}(\phi_{2}-\phi_{1})||_{Y_{q}} \leq CT_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{q}}||\phi_{2}-\phi_{1}||_{X_{q}^{2}}.$$

Combining the above two estimates shows

$$\|\psi_2 - \psi_1\|_{X^2_q} \le \left(CR^{p-1} + CT^{\frac{1}{q}}_{\varepsilon}\right) \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X^2_q}$$

and hence using this we see J_{ε} is a contraction on B_R provided (46) holds and $CR^{p-1}+CT_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{q}} < 1$. Note we can easily satisfy both these condition by fixing R > 0 small and then taking $\varepsilon > 0$ small. We then can apply the Banach fixed point argument to see the existence of a fixed point $\phi \in B_R$ such that $J_{\varepsilon}(\phi) = \phi$. By taking R > 0 sufficiently small its clear that $u = v_0 + \phi$ is nonzero and is a classical solution of (33) with $V(x) = \frac{h_{\varepsilon}(x)}{|x|^2}$ in the case of u^p replaced with $|u|^p$. Since q > N and hence $W^{2,q} \subset C^{0,1}$ we can argue as in the case of weighted Hölder spaces to see u > 0 and hence satisfies (33).

We now consider the case of p > 2. In this case we use the inequality (41). First note that to estimate $||H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)||_{Y_q}$ we just need to estimate the Y_q norm of $v_0^{p-2}|\phi_i||\phi_2 - \phi_1|$ for i = 1, 2, because the other terms are computed in the above case and note we did not use the restriction 1 there. So we now have

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_0^{p-2}|\phi_i| \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{Y_q}^q &\leq \sup_{s>0} s^{(\alpha+2)q-N} \int_{A_s} v_0^{(p-2)q} |\phi_i|^q |\phi_2 - \phi_1|^q \simeq C s^{2\alpha q-N} \int_{A_s} |\phi_i|^q |\phi_2 - \phi_1|^q \\ &\leq C s^{2\alpha q-N} \left(\sup_{s<|x|<2s} |\phi_i| \right)^q \left(\sup_{s<|x|<2s} |\phi_2 - \phi_1| \right)^q s^N \end{aligned}$$

and by (45) we have this is bounded above by

$$\leq C \sup_{s>0} s^{2\alpha q} \frac{\|\phi_i\|_{X_q^2}^q}{s^{\alpha q}} \frac{\|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_q^2}^q}{s^{\alpha q}} \leq C R^q \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_q^2}^q.$$

Hence we proved that

$$\|v_0^{p-2}|\phi_i|\|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|\|_{Y_q} \le CR\|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_q^2},$$

and hence when coupled with the other term we have

$$\|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)\|_{Y_q} \le C(R + R^{p-1})\|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_q^2}.$$
(47)

From this we see that

$$\|\psi_2 - \psi_1\|_{X_q^2} \le \left(C(R + R^{p-1}) + CT_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{q}}\right) \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_q^2}$$

and hence we have J_{ε} a contraction on B_R (but we haven't proven into yet) provided

$$C(R+R^{p-1}) + CT_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{q}} \le \frac{3}{4}.$$
 (48)

Now let $\phi \in B_R$ and $J_{\varepsilon}(\phi) = \psi$. Using the above estimate with $\phi_2 = \phi$ and $\phi_1 = 0$ (and since H(0) = 0) we arrive at

$$||H(\phi)||_{Y_q} \le C(R^2 + R^p).$$

So we then have

$$\|\psi\|_{X_q^2} \le C(R^2 + R^p) + C\||x|^{-2}h_{\varepsilon}\phi\|_{Y_q} + C\|x|^{-2}h_{\varepsilon}v_0\|_{Y_q}$$

and using the earliear estimates on the other terms we arrive at

$$\|\psi\|_{X^2_q} \le C(R^2 + R^p) + CRT^{\frac{1}{q}}_{\varepsilon}$$

and hence for $J_{\varepsilon}(B_R) \subset B_R$ it is sufficient that

$$C(R^2 + R^p) + CRT_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{q}} \le R.$$

By fixing R > 0 sufficiently small and then taking $\varepsilon > 0$ small we see that we can satisfy this property along with (48) and hence J_{ε} is a contraction on B_R and now we can proceed as in the case of $p \leq 2$.

Remark 1. Instead of working with q > N we can also work with $q = \frac{N}{2p'} \in (1, \frac{N}{2})$, $p' = \frac{p}{p-1}$, and here one needs weaker assumptions on the smallness of h_{ε} . The problem with this approach is one does not get for free the positivity of $u = v_0 + \phi$ (but they do get $u \neq 0$). So one still needs to prove u is positive and hence we chose to not pursue this. Also note for the problem at hand the weighted Hölder spaces we used in the beginning would not be sufficient.

6.0.2 Equation (34)

We now state our main theorem for this section.

Theorem 3. Suppose S, p, N are as in the hypothesis of Theorem 1 part 1 and additionally we assume $p < \frac{N+2}{N-2}$. Then for $||f||_Y$ small enough there exists a solution $u \in X_1$ of (34).

Proof. Define the nonlinear mapping $J(\phi) = \psi$ via

$$\begin{cases} L(\psi) = H(\phi) + f(x) & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \psi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \setminus \{0\}, \end{cases}$$
(49)

and to obtain a solution ϕ of (36) we show J is a contraction on B_R (the closed ball of radius R centered at the origin in X_1). We fix p as above and we assume additionally that $p \leq 2$. Into. Let $\phi \in B_R$ and let $\psi = J(\phi)$. Then we have

$$\|\psi\|_{X_1} \le C \|f\|_Y + C \|H(\phi)\|_Y.$$

Note there is some C > 0 such that $\|g\|_{H^{-1}(A_s)} \leq C \|g\|_{L^{\frac{2N}{N+2}}(A_s)}$ where C independent of s. Using this we have

$$\|H(\phi)\|_{H^{-1}(A_s)} \le C \|H(\phi)\|_{L^{\frac{2N}{N+2}}(A_s)} \le C \|\phi\|_{L^{\frac{2pN}{N+2}}(A_s)}^p$$

and hence we have

$$||H(\phi)||_{Y} \le C \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha+1-\frac{N}{2}} ||\phi||_{L^{\frac{2pN}{N+2}}(A_{s})}^{p}$$

For $1 < q \leq 2^*$ there is some C > 0 such that

$$\|\phi\|_{L^{q}(A_{s})} \leq \frac{C\|\phi\|_{X_{1}}}{s^{\alpha - \frac{N}{q}}}$$
(50)

for all s > 0. From this we see that

$$||H(\phi)||_{Y} \le C \sup_{s>0} \frac{s^{\alpha+1-\frac{N}{2}} ||\phi||_{X_{1}}^{p}}{s^{p(\alpha-\frac{N}{q})}}$$

where we are taking $q = \frac{2pN}{N+2}$ which is in the allowable range since we have $p < \frac{N+2}{N-2}$. From the definition of q and α we see the exponent on s is zero and hence we have

$$||H(\phi)||_Y \le CR^p$$

So we see that if $\psi = J(\phi)$ that

$$\|\psi\|_{X_1} \le C \|H(\phi)\|_Y + C \|f\|_Y \le CR^p + C \|f\|_Y$$

and hence to have $J(B_R) \subset B_R$ we need

$$CR^p + C\|f\|_Y \le R. \tag{51}$$

Contraction. Let $\phi_i \in B_R$ and $\psi_i = J(\phi_i)$. Then we have

$$\|\psi_2 - \psi_1\|_{X_1} \le C \|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)\|_Y$$

and we now estimate the right hand side of this using (43). So we have

and we now examine one term of I;

$$I^{\frac{2N}{N+2}} = \int_{A_s} |\phi_1|^{\frac{(p-1)2N}{N+2}} |\phi_2 - \phi_1|^{\frac{2N}{N+2}} dx$$

and we now apply Höler's inequality on this with $\frac{2Nt}{N+2} = 2^* = \frac{2N}{N-2}$ to obtain

$$I \le \|\phi_1\|_{L^{\frac{N(p-1)}{2}}(A_s)}^{p-1} \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{L^{2^*}(A_s)}$$

and note since $p < \frac{N+2}{N-2}$ we have $\frac{N(p-1)}{2} < 2^*$. We now use (50) to see

$$I \le \frac{CR^{p-1} \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_1}}{s^{\alpha p - 1 - \frac{N}{2}}}$$

and from this we see

$$||H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)||_Y \le \left(CR^{p-1} \sup_{s>0} s^{\alpha+2-\alpha p}\right) ||\phi_2 - \phi_1||_{X_1}$$

and noting the exponent on s is zero, and hence we have

$$\|\psi_2 - \psi_1\|_{X_1} \le CR^{p-1} \|\phi_2 - \phi_1\|_{X_1}.$$

Using this and (51) we see for small R > 0 and then assuming $||f||_Y$ is small we see that J is a contraction on B_R and hence we can apply Banach's fixed point theorem. The case of p > 2 is similar; again we omit the details.

6.1 The linear theory

In this section we prove Proposition 4. We begin by examining the kernel of L in these various new spaces.

Lemma 3. (Kernel of L) Suppose $N \ge 3$.

- 1. Suppose $p \in (p_0, p_1)$, $\mu_k \neq 0$ for all $k \geq 1$ and $\phi \in X_1$ is such that $L(\phi) = 0$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial \Omega$. Then $\phi = 0$.
- 2. Suppose $p \in (p_0, p_2)$, $1 < q < \infty$ and $\mu_k \neq 0$ for all $k \ge 1$. Suppose $\phi \in X_q^2$ is such that $L(\phi) = 0$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. Then $\phi = 0$.

Proof. Let $\phi \in X_1$ or X_q^2 be such that $L(\phi) = 0$ with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. We now write ϕ as $\phi(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k(r)\psi_k(\theta)$. We now obtain bounds on each $a_k(r)$. First multiply the infinite sum representation of ϕ by $\psi_k(\theta)$ and integrate over S one obtains (after taking absolute values) that

$$|a_k(r)| \le \int_S |\phi(r\theta)| |\psi_k(\theta)| d\theta \le T_k \int_S |\phi(r\theta)| d\theta$$

where T_k is a constant depending on k, and then we can apply Jensen's inequality to see that

$$|a_k(r)|^q \le \tilde{T}_k \int_S |\phi(r\theta)|^q d\theta$$

and hence we have

$$\int_{s}^{2s} r^{N-1} |a_{k}(r)|^{q} dr \leq T_{k} \int_{A_{s}} |\phi(x)|^{q} dx \leq \frac{T_{k}C}{s^{q\alpha-N}}$$
(52)

for all s > 0; here q > 1. Note this estimate gives

$$\int_{s}^{2s} \frac{1}{r} |a_k(r)r^{\alpha}|^q dr \le T_k.$$
(53)

From this we see

$$\inf_{s < r < 2s} |r^{\alpha} a_k(r)|^q \le \tilde{T}_k \tag{54}$$

for all s > 0.

We now obtain the form of $a_k(r)$. Note that $a_k(r)$ satisfies the following

$$0 = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(-a_k''(r) - \frac{(N-1)a_k'(r)}{r} + \left(\nu(N-2+\nu) + \mu_k\right) \frac{a_k(r)}{r^2} \right) \psi_k(\theta),$$
(55)

and hence we must have

$$-a_k''(r) - \frac{(N-1)a_k'(r)}{r} + (\nu(N-2+\nu) + \mu_k)\frac{a_k(r)}{r^2} = 0 \quad 0 < r < \infty,$$
(56)

which are ode's of Euler type. Define

$$\gamma_k := -(\mu_k + \nu(N - 2 + \nu)),$$

and hence we can re-write the above ode's as

$$a_k''(r) + \frac{(N-1)}{r}a_k(r) + \gamma_k \frac{a_k(r)}{r^2} = 0 \quad 0 < r < \infty.$$

Looking for solutions of the form $a(r) = r^{\beta}$ we see β needs to satisfy

 $\beta^2 + (N-2)\beta + \gamma_k = 0,$

and from this we need to consider three cases: Case I: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k > 0$ Case II: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k = 0$ Case III: $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k < 0$.

Case I. In this case we have

$$\begin{split} \beta_k^+ &:= \frac{-(N-2)}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{(N-2+2\nu)^2 + 4\mu_k}}{2} \\ \beta_k^- &:= \frac{-(N-2)}{2} - \frac{\sqrt{(N-2+2\nu)^2 + 4\mu_k}}{2}, \end{split}$$

and hence $a_k(r) = C_k r^{\beta_k^+} + D_k r^{\beta_k^-}$ for some $C_k, D_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and note $\beta_k^- < \beta_k^+$. To show $C_k = D_k = 0$ we claim it will be sufficient to show that both of β_k^+, β_k^- differ from ν . In this case we have

$$a_k(r)r^{\alpha} = C_k r^{\beta_k^+ + \alpha} + D_k r^{\beta_k^- + \alpha}$$

and note both exponents are nonzero by hypothesis. If either of C_k or D_k is nonzero we can obtain a contradiction by considering (54) and sending $s \to 0$ or $s \to \infty$.

Case II. In this case we have

$$\left|r^{\alpha}a_{k}(r)\right| = r^{\alpha - \frac{N-2}{2}} \left|C_{k} + D_{k}\ln r\right|$$

And since $\alpha \neq \frac{N-2}{2}$ (because $p \neq \frac{N+2}{N-2}$) we see that if $C_k \neq 0$ or $D_k \neq 0$ then $\lim_{r \to 0} |r^{\alpha} a_k(r)| = \infty$ or $\lim_{r \to \infty} |r^{\alpha} a_k(r)| = \infty$, a contradiction, hence $C_k = D_k = 0$.

Case III. $(N-2)^2 - 4\gamma_k < 0$. In this case define

$$\omega_k := \frac{\sqrt{4\gamma_k - (N-2)^2}}{2}$$

and then the general solution given by

$$a_k(r) = C_k r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \sin(\omega_k \ln(r)) + D_k r^{\frac{2-N}{2}} \cos(\omega_k \ln(r)),$$

for constants C_k, D_k . Now note we have

$$\frac{\tilde{T}_k}{s^{q\alpha-N}} \ge \int_s^{2s} r^{N-1} |a_k(r)|^q dr = \int_s^{2s} r^{N-1+q\frac{2-N}{2}} |C_k \sin(\omega_k \ln(r)) + D_k \cos(\omega_k \ln(r))|^q dr.$$

Changing the variable $\tau = \frac{r}{s}$ in the last integral we get

$$\frac{\tilde{T}_k}{s^{q(\alpha-\frac{N-2}{2})}} \geq \int_1^2 \tau^{N-1+q\frac{2-N}{2}} |C_k \sin(\omega_k \ln(s\tau)) + D_k \cos(\omega_k \ln(s\tau))|^q d\tau$$
$$= (C_k^2 + D_k^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} \int_1^2 \tau^{N-1+q\frac{2-N}{2}} |\sin(\omega_k \ln(s\tau) + \theta_k|^q d\tau,$$

where $\theta_k := \arcsin \frac{D_k}{\sqrt{C_k^2 + D_k^2}}$. Now taking $s = s_m = e^{\pm \frac{2m\pi}{\omega_k}}$, m = 1, 2, ... we get

$$\frac{\tilde{T}_k}{s_m^{q(\alpha-\frac{N-2}{2})}} \ge (C_k^2 + D_k^2)^{\frac{q}{2}} \int_1^2 \tau^{N-1+q\frac{2-N}{2}} \left|\sin(\omega_k \ln(\tau) + \theta_k\right|^q d\tau = A_k > 0, \ m = 1, 2, \dots$$

which is impossible by letting $m \to \infty$ noting that $\alpha - \frac{N-2}{2} \neq 0$, unless we have $C_k = D_k = 0$.

Proof of Proposition 4. The idea of the proof in 1 and 2 will be to prove the result for $f \in C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}$ (and hence $\phi \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu,0}$), and then perform a blow up argument. This will give us the desired result, but for this reduced class of f. We then will extend to the full space of f. We proof part 2 first since we don't have to deal with H^{-1} in this case.

2. So we fix $1 < q < \infty$ and we claim there is some C_q such that for all $f \in C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}$ there is some $\phi \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu,0}$ with $L(\phi) = f$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ and we have $\|\phi\|_{X^0_q} \leq C_q \|f\|_{Y_q}$. Of course the existence is not an issue, only the estimate might be false. So if we assume the result is false then there is $f_m \in C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}$ and $\phi_m \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\nu,0}$ such that $L(\phi_m) = f_m$ in Ω with $\phi_m = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ and $\|\phi_m\|_{X^0_q} = 1$ and $\|f_m\|_{Y_q} \to 0$. Note after rescaling and using boundary elliptic regularity theory we see that ϕ_m is bounded in X^2_q (to see a similar calculation see below). Also note there is some $s_m > 0$ such that $s^{q\alpha-N}_m \|\phi_m\|^q_{L^q(A_{s_m})} \geq \frac{3}{4}$. We now define $\zeta_m(x) := s^{\alpha}_m \phi_m(s_m x)$ and note $\int_{1 < |x| < 2} |\zeta_m(x)|^q dx \geq \frac{3}{4}$. Also note a computation shows that for any i we have

$$\int_{2^{i} < |x| < 2^{i+1}} |\zeta_m(x)|^q dx \le 2^{i(N-q\alpha)}.$$
(57)

Also note we have

$$-\Delta\zeta_m(x) - \frac{pw(\theta)^{p-1}\zeta_m(x)}{|x|^2} = s_m^{2+\alpha} f_m(s_m x) =: g_m(x) \qquad \text{in } \Omega \tag{58}$$

with $\zeta_m = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. For large integers k we set $E_k := \{x \in \Omega : \frac{1}{k} < |x| < k\}$ and $\tilde{E}_k := \{x \in \Omega : \frac{1}{2k} < |x| < 2k\}$. A computation shows that $g_m \to 0$ in $L^q(\tilde{E}_k)$. Also note for each large k there is some C_k such that we have

$$\|\zeta_m\|_{W^{2,q}(E_k)} \le C_k \|\Delta\zeta_m\|_{L^q(\tilde{E}_k)} + C_k \|\zeta_m\|_{L^q(\tilde{E}_k)}$$
(59)

which shows there is some \tilde{C}_k such that $\|\zeta_m\|_{W^{2,q}(E_k)} \leq C$ for all m. By passing to a subsequence and using a diagonal argument we can assume $\zeta_m \rightharpoonup \zeta$ in $W^{2,q}(E_k)$ for any klarge and ζ satisfies $L(\zeta) = 0$ in Ω with $\zeta = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. Now also note we can pass to the limit in (57) and also in the inequality above (57). From this we see that $\zeta \in X_q^0$ is nonzero. As before a scaling argument shows that $\zeta \in X_q^2$ and hence we have a contradiction to the kernel of L being trivial; see Lemma 3. We have now proved the initial claim; we need to extend this to the full set of f.

Fix $f \in Y_q$ and for large m we set $f_m(x) = f(x)$ for $x \in E_m$ with $f_m = 0$ otherwise. Then we have $||f^m||_{Y_q} \leq ||f||_{Y_q}$. By density there is some $f_m \in C^{0,\alpha}_{\nu-2}$ (in fact zero near the vertex of the cone and ∞) such that $||f_m - f^m||_{Y_q} \leq m^{-1} ||f^m||_{Y_q}$ and hence we have

$$||f_m||_{Y_q} \le ||f_m - f^m||_{Y_q} + ||f^m||_{Y_q} \le (1 + m^{-1})||f||_{Y_q} \le 2||f||_{Y_q}$$

and for any large integer k there is some C_k such that

$$\|f_m - f^m\|_{L^q(\tilde{E}_k)} \le C_k \|f_m - f^m\|_{Y_q} \le \frac{C_k}{m} \|f^m\|_{Y_q} \le \frac{C_k}{m} \|f\|_{Y_q}.$$

Let $L(\phi_m) = f_m$ in Ω with $\phi_m = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. Then by the above estimates we have $\|\phi_m\|_{X^2_q} \leq C \|f_m\|_{Y_q} \leq 2C \|f\|_{Y_q}$ and hence we can pass to a subsequence and find some ϕ such that $\phi_m \rightarrow \phi \in W^{2,q}(E_k)$ for all k and then note we have $L(\phi) = f$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. We now fix s > 0 and note we can pass to the limit to see

$$s^{q\alpha-N} \int_{A_s} |\phi(x)|^q dx \le 2^q C^q ||f||_{Y_q}^q$$

and now we can sup over s to see that we have the desired X_q^0 estimate on ϕ . We can now use scaling to get the full X_q^2 bound on ϕ .

1. We claim there is some C > 0 such that for all $f \in C_{\nu-2}^{0,\alpha}$ there is some $\phi \in C_{\nu,0}^{2,\alpha}$ with $L(\phi) = f$ in Ω with $\phi = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ and we have $\|\phi\|_{X_0} \leq C\|f\|_Y$ (note that for any ϕ as above we must have $\phi \in H^1(\tilde{E}_k)$ for all k). As before the only issue is the estimate and so if we assume its false there is some ϕ_m and f_m which satisfy the equation and $\|\phi_m\|_{X_0} = 1$, $\|f_m\|_Y \to 0$. Then there is some $s_m > 0$ such that

$$s_m^{2\alpha-N} \int_{A_{s_m}} |\phi_m(x)|^2 dx \ge \frac{3}{4}$$

Set $\zeta_m(x) := s_m^{\alpha} \phi_m(s_m x)$ and note for all *i* we have

$$\int_{2^{i} < |x| < 2^{i+1}} |\zeta_m(x)|^2 dx \le 2^{i(N-2\alpha)} \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{1 < |x| < 2} |\zeta_m(x)|^2 dx \ge \frac{3}{4}.$$
(60)

As before we have ζ_m satisfies (58). We now make a few claims that we will prove later; **Claim 1.** For each large k, g_m (as defined in (58)) satisfies $||g_m||_{H^{-1}(\tilde{E}_k)} \to 0$ as $m \to \infty$. **Claim 2.** There C_k such that for all $\psi \in H^1_{0,loc}(\Omega)$ (by this we mean $\psi \in H^1(E_k)$ for all kand $\psi = 0$, in the sense of trace, on the lateral boundary of E_k for each k) we have

$$\|\nabla \psi\|_{L^{2}(E_{k})} \leq C_{k} \|\Delta \psi\|_{H^{-1}(\tilde{E}_{k})} + C_{k} \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\tilde{E}_{k})}.$$

Using Claim 1 and Claim 2 we see there is some C_k such that $\|\zeta_m\|_{H^1(E_k)} \leq C_k$ for all mand using a diagonal argument there is some $\zeta \in H^1_{0,loc}(\Omega)$ such that $\zeta_m \rightharpoonup \zeta$ in $H^1(E_k)$ for all k and ζ satisfies $L(\zeta) = 0$ in Ω with $\zeta = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. Fix s > 0 and we can pass to the limit in (60) to see ζ is nonzero and

$$\int_{2^{i} < |x| < 2^{i+1}} |\zeta(x)|^2 dx \le 2^{i(N-2\alpha)}.$$

Using this bound we see $\zeta \in X_0$. Fix s > 0 and set $\zeta_s(x) = \zeta(sx)$ and $-\Delta\zeta_s(x) = |x|^{-2}pw(\theta)^{p-1}\zeta_s(x)$ in Ω with $\zeta_s = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ and so we can use Claim 2 with k = 2 to get

$$s^{2\alpha+2-N} \int_{s<|y|<2s} |\nabla\zeta(y)|^2 dy \le C s^{2\alpha-N} \int_{4^{-1}s<|y|<4s} |\zeta(y)|^2 dy \le C \|\zeta\|_{X_0}^2$$

and we can now take the supremum over s; this gives us $\zeta \in X_1$. This gives us the desired contradiction after recalling the kernel of L is trivial.

As before we now extend the estimate to the full space Y. For m large let γ_m be a piecewise linear, Lipschitz cut off with $\gamma_m = 1$ for $m^{-1} < |x| < m$ with $\gamma_m = 0$ for $|x| < (2m)^{-1}$ or |x| > 2m; so there is some C such that $|\nabla \gamma_m| \le Cm^{-1}$ in m < |x| < 2mand $|\nabla \gamma_m| \le Cm$ in $2^{-1}m^{-1} < |x| < m^{-1}$. We now define f^m by $f_m = \gamma_m f$ which is well defined (recall f may not be a function). We now show that there is some C (independent of f and $m \ge 2$)) such that $||f^m||_Y \le C||f||_Y$. Fix s > 0 and note

$$|\langle f^{m}, \phi \rangle| \leq ||f||_{H^{-1}(A_{s})} ||\nabla(\gamma_{m}\phi)||_{L^{2}(A_{s})}$$

for all $\phi \in H_0^1(A_s)$ where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denote the $H^{-1}(A_s)$, $H_0^1(A_s)$ duality pairing. Using the gradient bounds on γ_m and noting the first eigenvalue of $-\Delta$ on $H_0^1(A_s)$ we see there is some C > 0 (independent of s, m and f) such that $\|\nabla(\gamma_m \phi)\|_{L^2(A_s)} \leq C \|\nabla \phi\|_{L^2(A_s)}$ and from this we see $\|f^m\|_{H^{-1}(A_s)} \leq C \|f\|_{H^{-1}(A_s)}$ and hence we have $\|f^m\|_Y \leq C \|f\|_Y$. For each m as above there is some $f_m \in C_{\nu-2}^{0,\alpha}$ (in fact its zero near the vertex of the cone and near ∞) such that $\|f_m - f^m\|_Y \leq m^{-1}\|f^m\|_Y \leq m^{-1}C\|f\|_Y$ after considering the above estimate. Then we get

$$||f_m||_Y \le ||f_m - f^m||_Y + ||f^m||_Y \le (1 + m^{-1})C||f||_Y \le 2C||f||_Y$$

for all large m. Note if we write the earlier inequality to see that for all s > 0 that

$$s^{\alpha+1-\frac{N}{2}} \|f_m - f^m\|_{H^{-1}(A_s)} \le Cm^{-1} \|f\|_Y.$$

We will show for each k there is some C_k (depending only on k) such that

$$\|f_m - f^m\|_{H^{-1}(\tilde{E}_k)} \le C_k \sup_{\frac{k}{2} \le s \le k} \|f_m - f^m\|_{H^{-1}(A_s)} \le \tilde{C}_k \|f_m - f^m\|_Y \le \frac{\tilde{C}_k}{m} \|f\|_Y$$

The only inequality in the above that we need to justify is $||f_m - f^m||_{H^{-1}(\tilde{E}_k)} \leq C_k \sup_{\frac{k}{2} \leq s \leq k} ||f_m - f^m||_{H^{-1}(A_s)}$. To prove this result it will be sufficient to prove the following: there is some C (independent of f) such that for any $f \in Y$ we have

$$||f||_{H^{-1}(A_{1,3})} \le C ||f||_{H^{-1}(A_{1,2})} + C ||f||_{H^{-1}(A_{\frac{3}{2},3})}$$

where $A_{a,b} := \{x \in \Omega : a < |x| < b\}$. Fix some smooth $0 \le \gamma$ on \mathbb{R}^N with $\gamma = 1$ in $B_{\frac{3}{2}}$ with $\gamma \in C_c^{\infty}(B_2)$. Then note for $\phi \in H_0^1(A_{1,3})$ we have $\phi = \gamma \phi + (1 - \gamma)\phi$. For 0 < a < b we write $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{A_{a,b}}$ to be the $H^{-1}(A_{a,b})$, $H_0^1(A_{a,b})$ duality pairing. Then we have

$$\left| \langle f, \phi \rangle_{A_{1,3}} \right| \le \|f\|_{H^{-1}(A_{1,2})} \|\nabla(\gamma\phi)\|_{L^2(A_{1,2})} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}(A_{\frac{3}{2},3})} \|\nabla((1-\gamma)\phi)\|_{L^2(A_{\frac{3}{2},3})}$$

The L^2 norms on the right hand side of the above inequality are all bounded above by $C \|\nabla \phi\|_{L^2(A_{1,3})}$ where C depends on the cut off γ . Now taking a supremum over ϕ gives the desired result.

Proof of Claim 1. We first show that $||g_m||_{H^{-1}(A_k)} \to 0$ for any k > 0. Fix k > 0 and let $-\Delta v_m = g_m$ in A_k with $v_m \in H^1_0(A_k)$ and so $||g_m||_{H^{-1}(A_k)} = ||\nabla v_m||_{L^2(A_k)}$.

Set $\hat{v}_m(x) := s_m^{-\alpha} v_m(s_m^{-1}x)$ for $ks_m < |x| < 2ks_m$ and hence $-\Delta \hat{v}_m(x) = f_m(x)$ in A_{ks_m} with $\hat{v}_m = 0$ on ∂A_{ks_m} . Hence we have $\|f_m\|_{H^{-1}(A_{ks_m})} = \|\nabla \hat{v}_m\|_{L^2(A_{ks_m})}$. From this we see

$$\begin{split} \int_{k < |y| < 2k} |\nabla v_m(y)|^2 dy &= s_m^{2\alpha + 2 - N} \int_{k s_m < |x| < 2k s_m} |\nabla \hat{v}_m(x)|^2 dx \\ &= k^{N - 2\alpha - 2} (k s_m)^{2\alpha + 2 - N} \|f_m\|_{H^{-1}(A_{k s_m})} \\ &\leq k^{N - 2\alpha - 2} \|f_m\|_Y \to 0, \end{split}$$

as $m \to \infty$ and hence $\|g_m\|_{H^1(A_k)} \to 0$ as $m \to \infty$. To see we can extend this to \tilde{E}_k we take k = 1 and $k = \frac{3}{2}$ and use the above argument to see that $\|g_m\|_{H^{-1}(A_{1,3})} \to 0$. We can keep doing this process of joining intersecting annular regions of the form A_s and obtaining H^{-1} estimates on the union. Hence we see for any fixed k we have $\|g_m\|_{H^{-1}(\tilde{E}_k)} \to 0$ as $m \to \infty$. This completes the proof of Claim 1.

Proof of Claim 2. The proof follows the exact proof one would use for the L^p version of this estimate; which gives $W^{2,p}(\tilde{E}_k)$ bounds.

7 Appendix

Here we collect some of the proofs for the estimates (38)-(43).

Lemma 4. If 1 , then we have

$$0 \le H(\phi) \le c_p |\phi|^p \tag{61}$$

and

$$|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)| \le C_p \Big(|\phi_2|^{p-1} + |\phi_1|^{p-1} \Big) |\phi_2 - \phi_1|.$$
(62)

Proof. First note we have the known inequalities

$$(|b|^{p-2}b - |a|^{p-2}a)(b-a) > 0, \ a \neq b \ for \ all \ p > 1$$
 (63)

$$0 \le \left(|b|^{p-2}b - |a|^{p-2}a \right) (b-a) \le c_p |b-a|^p, \quad 1
(64)$$

see, for example, [31] for the above computations. Now we write by the mean value theorem (note $|t|^p$ is differentiable when p > 1)

$$H(\phi) = H(\phi) - H(0) = \phi H'(z),$$

for some $z = t\phi$, $t \in [0, 1]$, and then

$$H(\phi) = \phi H'(z) = \frac{H'(z)z}{t} = \frac{p}{t} \Big(|v_0 + z|^{p-2} (v_0 + z) - v_0^{p-2} v_0 \Big) (v_0 + z - v_0)$$

Hence using (63) and (64) we get $H(\phi) \ge 0$ for all p > 1 and also

$$H(\phi) \le c_p t^{p-1} |\phi|^p \le c_p |\phi|^p \quad 1$$

that proves (61). To see (62) we have

$$H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1) = (\phi_2 - \phi_1)H'(z),$$

where $z = \theta \phi_1 + (1 - \theta) \phi_2$ for some $\theta \in [0, 1]$, hence

$$H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1) = (\phi_2 - \phi_1) \frac{H'(z)z}{z},$$

and then using (64) again, we obtain

$$|H(\phi_2) - H(\phi_1)| = \frac{|\phi_2 - \phi_1|}{|z|} H'(z)z \le C_p |\phi_2 - \phi_1| |z|^{p-1} \le C(|\phi_2|^{p-1} + |\phi_1|^{p-1}) |\phi_2 - \phi_1|,$$

that proves (62).

References

- C. Bandle and M. Essen, On the positive solutions of Emden equations in cone-like domains, Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., 112 (1990), 319-338.
- [2] C. Bandle and H.A. Levine, On the existence and nonexistence of global solutions of reaction diffusion equations in sectorial domains, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 314 (1989), 595-622
- [3] Marie-Francise Bidaut-Véron a, Mustapha Jazar and Laurent Véron, Separable solutions of some quasilinear equations with source reaction, J. Differential Equations 244 (2008) 274-308
- [4] B. Bougherara, J. Giacomoni and S. Prashanth, Analytic global bifurcation and infinite turning points for very singular problems, Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations March 2015, Volume 52, Issue 3-4, pp 829-856.
- [5] B. Buffoni and J. Toland, Analytic Theory of Global Bifurcation. An introduction, Princeton Series in Applied Mathematics. Princeton University Press, Princeton (2003).
- [6] L. Caffarelli, B. Gidas and J. Spruck. Asymptotic symmetry and local behaviour of semilinear elliptic equations with critical Sobolev growth. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 42 (1989), 271297.
- [7] W. Chen and C. Li, Classification of solutions of some nonlinear elliptic equations. Duke Math. J. 63 (1991), 615622.
- [8] M. Clapp, M. Grossi and A. Pistoia, Multiple solutions to the Bahri-Coron problem in domains with a shrinking hole of positive dimension, Complex Var. and Elliptic Eqns., 57, 1147-1162.
- [9] J.M. Coron, Topologie et cas limite des injections de Sobolev. C.R. Acad. Sc. Paris, 299, Series I, 209212.(1984).

- [10] M. Crandall and H. Rabinowitz, Bifurcation, Perturbation of Simple Eigenvalues, and Linearized Stability, Journal of Functional Analysis, Volume 8, Issue 2, October 1971, Pages 321-340.
- [11] L. Damascelli, M. Grossi and F. Pacella, Qualitative properties of positive solutions of semilinear elliptic equations in symmetric domains via the maximum principlet, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare (C) Non Linear Analysis Volume 16, Issue 5, SeptemberOctober 1999, Pages 631-652.
- [12] E.N. Dancer, Real analyticity and non degeneracy, Math. Ann. 325(2), 369-392 (2003).
- [13] J. Dávila, M. del Pino and M. Musso, The Supercritical Lane-Emden-Fowler Equation in Exterior Domains, Communications in Partial Differential Equations, 32:8, 1225-1243, (2007).
- [14] J. Dávila, M. del Pino, M. Musso and J. Wei, Fast and slow decay solutions for supercritical elliptic problems in exterior domains, Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations August 2008, Volume 32, Issue 4, pp 453-480.
- [15] J. Dávila, Manuel del Pino, M. Musso and J. Wei, Standing waves for supercritical nonlinear Schrödinger equations, Journal of Differential Equations 236(2007),no.1, 164-198.
- [16] J. Dávila and L. Dupaigne, Perturbing singular solutions of the Gelfand problem. Commun. Contemp. Math. 9 (2007), no. 5, 639-680.
- [17] M. del Pino, Supercritical elliptic problems from a perturbation viewpoint, Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems 21 (1), 69, 2008.
- [18] M. del Pino, P. Felmer and Monica Musso, Two-bubble solutions in the super-critical Bahri-Corons problem, Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations 16 (2003), no. 2, 113-145 PDF
- [19] M. del Pino, P. Felmer and M. Musso, Multi-bubble solutions for slightly super-critical elliptic problems in domains with symmetries, Bull. London Math. Society 35 (2003), no. 4, 513-521
- [20] M. del Pino and M. Musso, Super-critical bubbling in elliptic boundary value problems, Variational problems and related topics (Kyoto, 2002). 1307 (2003), 85-108.
- [21] M. del Pino, M. Musso and F. Pacard, Boundary singularities for weak solutions of semilinear elliptic problems, J. Funct. Anal. 253 (2007), no. 1, 241-272.
- [22] L.C. Evans, Partial Differential Equations, American Mathematical Soc., 2010.
- [23] A. Farina, On the classification of solutions of the Lane-Emden equation on unbounded domains of ℝ^N, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 87 (2007), no. 5, 537-561.

- [24] B. Gidas, W. Ni and L. Nirenberg, Symmetry and related properties via the maximum principle. Commun. Math. Phys. 68 (1979), 525598. MR0544879 (80h:35043)
- [25] B. Gidas and J. Spruck, Global and local behavior of positive solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 34(4):525-598, 1981.
- [26] KT. Gkikas, Boundary singularities on a wedge-like domain of a semilinear elliptic equation, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 145 (2015), no. 5, 979-1006.
- [27] F. Gladiali and M. Grossi, Supercritical elliptic problem with nonautonomous nonlinearities, J. Diff. Eqns., 253 (2012), 2616-2645.
- [28] M. Grossi and F. Takahashi, Nonexistence of multi-bubble solutions to some elliptic equations on convex domains, Jour. Funct. Anal., 259 (2010), 904-917.
- [29] C. Gui, W. M. Ni and X. Wang, On the stability and instability of positive steady states of a semilinear heat equation in \mathbb{R}^n . Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 45:1153-1181.
- [30] J. Horák, P.J. McKenna, W. Reichel, Very weak solutions with boundary singularities for semilinear elliptic Dirichlet problems in domains with conical corners, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 352 (2009) 496514.
- [31] P. Lindqvist, Notes on the p-Laplace equation, University of Jyväskylä, Report 102, (2006).
- [32] R. Mazzeo and F. Pacard. A construction of singular solutions for a semilinear elliptic equation using asymptotic analysis, J. Diff. Geom. 44 (1996) 331-370.
- [33] P.J. McKenna, W. Reichel, A priori bounds for semilinear equations and a new class of critical exponents for Lipschitz domains, J. Funct. Anal. 244 (1) (2007) 220-246.
- [34] F. Pacard and T. Rivière, Linear and nonlinear aspects of vortices: the Ginzburg Landau model, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations, 39, Birkauser. 342 pp. (2000).
- [35] D.Passaseo, Nonexistence results for elliptic problems with supercritical nonlinearity in nontrivial domains. J. Funct. Anal. 114(1):97105.(1993).
- [36] S. Pohozaev, S. (1965). Eigenfunctions of the equation $\Delta u + \lambda f(u) = 0$. Soviet. Math. Dokl. 6:14081411.
- [37] Alessio Porretta and Laurent Véron, Separable solutions of quasilinear Lane-Emden equations, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 15, 755-774 (2013). 2011.
- [38] N. Shioji and K. Watanabe, Uniqueness and nondegeneracy of positive radial solutions of div $(\rho \nabla u) + \rho(-gu + hu^p) = 0$, Calc. Var. (2016) 55:32, DOI 10.1007/s00526-016-0970-2.

- [39] Struwe, M. (1990). Variational Methods Applications to Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations and Hamiltonian Systems. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- [40] X. Wang, On the Cauchy Problem for Reaction-Diffusion Equations, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, Vol. 337, No. 2 (June 1993) pp. 549-590.
- [41] K Wang and J Wei, Analysis of Blow-up Locus and Existence of Weak Solutions for Nonlinear Supercritical Problems, International Mathematics Research Notices, Volume 2015, Issue 10, 1 January 2015, Pages 2634-2670.